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Dear Shareholders, 

The core corporate ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ǎƛƴŎŜ ƛǘǎ ƭƛǎǘƛƴƎ ƛƴ нллт Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ άǘƻ ƎǊƻǿ YŀǎōŀƘ ƛƴǘƻ ŀ ƴŜǿ 

ƎŜƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻŘǳŎŜǊ ƻŦ ƘƛƎƘ ǉǳŀƭƛǘȅ ǘƛƴ ŎƻƴŎŜƴǘǊŀǘŜǎέΦ  Against a backdrop of global economic uncertainty, 

softening commodity prices and weak capital markets, your company has made major advances towards 

realising this objective at Achmmach.  

In March 2012 the Exploration and Resource Development team delivered a substantial increase in the 

estimated size of the mineral resource at Achmmach.  This mineral resource upgrade underpinned the pre-

feasibility study (άPFSέ) completed in May 2012 and helped to build confidence in the technical viability of 

the project.  This provided the Board of Kasbah with the confidence to approve the commencement of the 

definitive feasibility study (άDFSέ) which is scheduled for completion in the final quarter of the 2013 

calendar year. 

Achmmach is a unique and valuable asset.  

Hard rock tin opportunities of this quality and scale are exceptionally rare.  The inherent value of this asset 

continues to be recognised by significant tin sector participants.  In March 2012, the Japanese trading 

house Toyota Tsusho Corporation (άToyota Tsushoέ) signed a Memorandum of Understanding with Kasbah 

to acquire an interest in the Achmmach Tin Project.  

The value of a strategic partner of this calibre cannot be understated. 

Toyota Tsusho trades approximately 8% of the world tin market. Third party endorsement of the 

CƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ Ǉƭŀƴǎ ŦƻǊ !ŎƘƳƳŀŎƘ ōȅ !ǎƛŀΩǎ ǇǊŜƳƛŜǊ ǘƛƴ ǘǊŀŘƛƴƎ ƘƻǳǎŜ ǳƴŘŜǊƭƛƴŜǎ ǘƘŜ 

importance of the Achmmach Tin Project to the broader tin sector.  

For Kasbah to deliver against the broader company strategy it must grow.  Consistent with this strategy the 

Bou El Jaj Tin Project όά.[Wέύ was acquired from private interests during 2012. This project is located 

approximately 15km from Achmmach and the prevalence of high grade outcropping tin at surface makes 

BLJ an attractive shallow tin target that could provide another ore source for a future processing facility at 

Achmmach.  Drilling commenced at BLJ in September 2012.  

Capital is the lifeblood of junior companies and Kasbah has not been obliged to return to the capital 

markets since the third quarter of the 2010 calendar year.  During 2012, the conversion of options 

previously issued to key cornerstone shareholders and the injection of $16,000,000 into the Company by 

¢ƻȅƻǘŀ ¢ǎǳǎƘƻ Ƙŀǎ ǎŜŜƴ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ŎŀǎƘ ǊŜǎŜǊǾŜǎ ǎǿŜƭƭ ǘƻ $28,500,000 (at 31 July 2012). 

With a strong cash position, a quality strategic partner and a dedicated team in Morocco, Kasbah is now on 

track to advance Achmmach through the most critical phase of evaluation. A Board accepted DFS sets the 

stage for project financing, followed by full project development and as such, the Achmmach DFS is the 

next critical technical milestone for the Company. 

All of our investors can be proud of what the Company has achieved in the past 12 months. YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ 

technical and corporate momentum continues to grow and looking forward the Company is well positioned 

to deliver against its corporate strategy. 
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I wish to thank my fellow Directors, and in particular our Managing Director, Wayne Bramwell and all 

members of the Kasbah staff for their valuable efforts and dedication to the advancement of the 

Achmmach Project and the Company.  I would also like to express my sincere appreciation to all of our 

shareholders for their continued support of our efforts to grow Kasbah into an industry leading, new 

generation tin producer.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
Michael Spratt  
Chairman 
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Kasbah Resources Limited (άKasbahέ) is an Australian listed mineral exploration 
and development Company.  Our commodity is tin.   

YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ corporate strategy is to: 

Á Grow the Company into a new generation producer of high quality tin 

concentrates; 

Á Leverage our exploration and development expertise into new tin production 

opportunities; and 

Á Target high margin tin assets with growth potential.  

HIGHLIGHTS 

Kasbah continues to advance its corporate strategy systematically and has achieved the following critical 

milestones during the year: 

Á A record 29,539m of diamond drilling achieved for the 12 month period ending 30 June 2012 

Á Two diamond drilling contractors active at Achmmach with up to 5 rigs operational during the year 

Á On 5 August 2011, the Moroccan Minister for Energy and Mines, Madame Amina Benkhadra approved 
ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎƛƎƴƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ млл҈ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ŎƘƳƳŀŎƘ ¢ƛƴ tǊƻƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ǿƘƻƭƭȅ ƻǿƴŜŘ aƻǊƻŎŎŀƴ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅ  

Á On 5 December 2011, the Company announced it had signed an agreement to purchase the Bou El Jaj 
(άBLJέ) Tin Prospect in Morocco 

Á On 12 March 2012, the Company signed a aŜƳƻǊŀƴŘǳƳ ƻŦ ¦ƴŘŜǊǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎ όάah¦έύ ǿƛǘƘ ƳŀƧƻǊ ǘƛƴ 
trading house Toyota Tsusho to enable the latter to acquire a 20% interest in the Achmmach Tin 
Project 

Á On 19 March 2012, Kasbah announced a new mineral resource estimate for the Achmmach Tin 
Project. The new resource of 14.6 million tonnes at 0.9% Sn (for 135,000 tonnes of contained tin) 
included Indicated and Inferred resources from the Meknes Trend 

Á On 31 May 2012 the Company released a positive pre-feasibility study (άPFSέ) for the Achmmach Tin 
Project 

Á YŀǎōŀƘ .ƻŀǊŘ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳƳŜƴŎŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŘŜŦƛƴƛǘƛǾŜ ŦŜŀǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ǎǘǳŘȅ όά5C{έύ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 
Achmmach Tin Project 

Á $7.5M received from 25c option conversion by African Lion 3 fund, International Finance Corporation 
(άIFCέ) and Traxys LP 

Á At 30 June 2012 the Company had cash reserves of $18.6M  
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1. ACHMMACH TIN PROJECT  
(100% Kasbah ς Toyota Tsusho earning in) 

The Achmmach Tin Project was discovered by the Moroccan government agency, the Bureau des 

Recherches et de Participations Minières (άBRPMέ), in 1985 and is located on the western edge of 

the El Hajeb province in Northern Morocco. The project is approximately 140 km southeast of the 

Moroccan capital Rabat and 40 km south southwest of Meknes and consists of two Exploitation 

Permits (PE No 2912 and PE No 193172) that cover an aggregate area of approximately 32 square 

kilometres.  

Kasbah commenced site operations in 2007 and the objective has been to upgrade, expand and 

increase the confidence in the Achmmach resource by additional diamond drilling, then advance the 

project through scoping study, pre-feasibility study, definitive feasibility study and ultimately full 

project commitment. 

During the 2011/2012 period the Company successfully delivered a PFS to the market. 

 

Figure 1:  Achmmach Tin Project 

(Meknes and Sidi Addi Trends depicted) 
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1.1. Achmmach Exploration and Resource Development Program 

The Exploration and Resource Development program aims to explore and advance the Achmmach 

Tin Project systematically through the critical stages of evaluation to complete a definitive feasibility 

study. 

During 2011/2012 the Company achieved a record of 29,539m of diamond drilling into the Meknes 

Trend at Achmmach. This result represents a 119% increase over that achieved in the 2010/2011 

period and was achieved by the utilisation of two diamond drilling contractors employing five rigs 

between them. 

 

Figure 2:  Diamond Drilling at Achmmach ς Metres Drilled per Financial Year 

The increase in momentum at the Achmmach Tin Project resulted in a new mineral resource 

estimate being released on 19 March 2012. This new resource of 14.6 million tonnes at 0.9% Sn (for 

135,000 tonnes of contained tin) included Indicated and Inferred resources from the Meknes Trend 

and was completed at a cut-off grade of 0.5% Sn. 

 



Operations Report 
 

 
KASBAH RESOURCES LIMITED 2012 ANNUAL REPORT  7 | P ag e  

Table 1 

Mineral Resources Achmmach Tin Project (Meknes Trend) March 2012 

Mineral Resource Estimate - Achmmach Tin Project  

(March 2012 - @ 0.5% Sn cut off)  

Category  M Tonnes Sn % Contained Tin 

(k tonnes) 

Indicated  5.3 0.8 42 

Inferred  9.3 1.0 93 

Total  14.6 0.9 135 

*Note that the figures in Table 1 have been rounded appropriately, in compliance with JORC. 

Competent Persons Statements 

The information in this report is based on information compiled by Mr Chris Bolger, a Member of the 

Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Bolger is a full-time employee of Kasbah Resources Limited 

and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under 

ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘȅ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘŜ ƛǎ ǳƴŘŜǊǘŀƪƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǉǳŀƭƛŦȅ ŀǎ ŀ Ψ/ƻƳǇŜǘŜƴǘ tŜǊǎƻƴΩ ŀǎ ŘŜŦƛƴŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 

нллп 9Řƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ψ!ǳǎǘǊŀƭŀǎƛŀƴ /ƻŘŜ ŦƻǊ wŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ 9ȄǇƭƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ wŜǎǳƭǘǎΣ aƛƴŜǊŀƭ wŜǎƻǳǊŎŜǎ ŀƴŘ hǊŜ 

RŜǎŜǊǾŜǎΩΦ aǊ .ƻƭƎŜǊ ŎƻƴǎŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŎƭǳǎƛƻƴ ƛƴ ǘƘƛǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƳŀǘǘŜǊǎ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘƛǎ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŦƻǊƳ 

and context in which it appears. 

The information in this report which relates to Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by Michael 

V. McKeown who is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Michael McKeown is 

employed by Mining One Pty Ltd and he has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation 

and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person 

ŀǎ ŘŜŦƛƴŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ нллп 9Řƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ά!ǳǎǘǊŀƭŀǎƛŀƴ /ƻŘŜ ŦƻǊ wŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ 9ȄǇƭƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ wŜǎǳƭǘǎΣ aƛƴŜǊŀƭ wŜǎƻǳǊŎŜǎ 

ŀƴŘ hǊŜ wŜǎŜǊǾŜǎέ όWhw/ /ƻŘŜύΦ aƛŎƘŀŜƭ aŎYŜƻǿƴ ŎƻƴǎŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŎƭǳǎƛƻƴ ƛƴ this report of the matters based 

on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 

Messrs Bolger and McKeown consent to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on information 

provided by them and in the form and context in which it appears.  
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The March 2012 resource estimate has propelled the Achmmach Tin Project to now being the 

largest, undeveloped hard rock tin project in the world. 

 

Figure 3:  Tin Resource Comparator 

(Companies with Code Compliant Resources) 

The planned program at Achmmach for the 2012/2013 period consists of the following: 

Á Extensional drilling of the Meknes Trend to the east; 

Á Completion of 40m x 40m sections for the whole of the Meknes trend (to 3300mE); 

Á Preparing a revised resource statement during Quarter 1 2013; and 

Á Completing 20m x 20m sections within the original Meknes Zone for input into the DFS mine 

design process. 

This program will provide the basis for the DFS that is planned for completion during the last quarter 

of 2013. 
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1.2. Project Development Program 

The Project Development Program builds on the mineral resource estimate defined by the 

Exploration and Resource Development team and incorporates the resource into a technical and 

financial evaluation. During 2011/2012 the Company advanced the Achmmach Tin Project from 

scoping study level evaluation through to pre-feasibility study level. 

Confidence in the operating and capital cost estimates increases at each of these stages as further 

data is available for higher level design within the key areas of mining, processing and surface 

infrastructure. This is a systematic process that ultimately provides high confidence data as input to a 

definitive feasibility study. 

The 2011/2012 Project Development Program covered the following activities and delivered the 

following critical milestones: 

Á Site Projects 

The increase in drilling activity at Achmmach saw the completion of site development projects 

during the year.  These included establishing four water bores within PE2912 making the 

operation self-sufficient in potable and drill water supplies.  The operation also engaged a local 

licensed waste disposal contractor to remove both domestic and industrial waste from the 

project.  Disposal of waste to on-site landfill ceased during Quarter 4 2011. 

Á Community Engagement 

Kasbah maintained community contact throughout the period through regular meetings with 

local government officials representing the communes of Ras Jerry, Ait Ouikhalfen and Sebt 

Jajouh.  These communes provide most of the local employees to the Achmmach project, the 

number of which increased significantly during the period as drilling activity accelerated. 

Á Environmental Impact Assessment (άEIAέ) 

Environmental specialists Sogreah of Groupe Artelia of France delivered the Achmmach 

Environmental Impact Assessment and Environmental Management Plan during Quarter 2 2012.  

The EIA complied with the earlier terms of reference set for the assessment and concluded that 

development of the Achmmach project would have no lasting detrimental effect on the project 

area and would provide significant economic and social benefits to the surrounding 

communities. 

Kasbah has submitted the EIA report to the Department of the Environment within the 

Moroccan Ministry of Energy, Mines, Water and Environment for approval during Quarter 3 

2012. 
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Á PFS Engineering Cost Study 

The Company delivered a positive PFS to the market on 31 March 2012. 

The study was prepared by Kasbah and contained technical input from resource, process 

engineering, tailings management and environmental consultants.  Kasbah contributed 

commentary on the regulatory and fiscal regime in Morocco and completed the financial 

analysis of the project.  The Achmmach PFS returned a positive result that contained the 

following key elements: 

Á a 1 Mtpa underground operation; 

Á highly competitive mine gate costs; and 

Á project development cost of US$167M (includes all surface infrastructure). 

The PFS financial summary is depicted in the following table: 

Table 2 

Achmmach Tin Project ς Financial Summary and Tin Price Sensitivity 

 LME Tin Price 

 (US$/tonne) 

Parameter Spot 

29/5/12 

$20,095 

Base Case 

90-day Average (1) 

$21,961 

Analyst Consensus 

Forecast 2013 (2) 

$24,407 

NPV10, US$M 36 79 134 

IRR, % 16.7 23.8 32.4 

Operating Margin 

US$/tonne ore treated 
19.6 29.2 41.8 

Cash surplus, US$M 130 194 277 

1- LME 3 month sellers to 29 May 2012                                                  2- Consensus Economics Inc. 16 April 2012 

 

Kasbah will progress a definitive feasibility study during the 2012/2013 period with delivery targeted 

for Quarter 4 2013. 
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2. BOU EL JAJ TIN PROJECT (100% Kasbah) 

Consistent with the CƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƎǊƻǿǘƘ ǇƭŀƴǎΣ YŀǎōŀƘ ŀŎǉǳƛǊŜŘ the Bou El Jaj Tin Prospect during the 

period.   

On 5 December 2011 Kasbah announced that it had signed an agreement to acquire the Bou El Jaj 

(ΨBLJέ) Tin Prospect from private interests in Morocco. BLJ is a significant tin target that is 

approximately 15km from the Achmmach Tin Project. There is strong high grade tin mineralisation at 

surface. 

2.1 Bou El Jaj Exploration and Resource Development Program 

In September 2012 Kasbah commenced drilling within the prospective 3.5km of mineralised strike 

with the objective of defining a shallow, mineable resource that could be trucked to a processing 

facility at Achmmach. 

 

Figure 4:  Bou El Jaj Project Location 
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3. TAMLALT GOLD DEPOSIT(100% Kasbah)

No exploration work was undertaken during the year as all resources were focused on resource 

development at Achmmach and divestment options continue to be assessed. 

4. CORPORATE 

Kasbah has been very active corporately during the period with key risks removed from the 

Company. Most importantly strong support from existing major shareholders and a new strategic 

joint venture with Toyota Tsusho has removed significant development and funding risk from the 

Company. 

Kasbah has not returned to the equity capital markets since October 2010 and is in a strong position 

to advance the corporate strategy over the next twelve months. 

Key corporate milestones achieved during the 2011/2012 period included; 

Á 100% ownership of Achmmach Tin Project 

On 5 August 2011, Kasbah announced that the Moroccan Minister for Energy, Mines, Water and 

Environment, Madame Amina Benkhadra, had approved the assignment of 100% of the 

!ŎƘƳƳŀŎƘ ¢ƛƴ tǊƻƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ǿƘƻƭƭȅ ƻǿƴŜŘ aƻǊƻŎŎŀƴ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅ. On 15 May 2012 the 

final registration of the transfer of PE 2912 and PE 193172 was received from the Ministry, 

completing the transfer and registration process.  

Á Acquisition of Bou El Jaj Tin Prospect 

On 5 December 2011 the Company announced it had signed an agreement to purchase 100% of 

the Bou El Jaj Tin Prospect in Morocco. BLJ constitutes two highly prospective exploration 

permits within 15km of the Achmmach Tin Project.  

On 7 March 2012 the Company announced it had completed the transfer of the Bou El Jaj Tin 

ProspŜŎǘ ǘƻ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ Moroccan subsidiary.  

Á MOU signed with Toyota Tsusho 

On the 12 March 2012 the Company announced it had signed a Memorandum of Understanding 

(άMOUέ) with Toyota Tsusho Corporation (άToyota Tsushoέ) to enable the latter to acquire an 

interest in the Achmmach Tin Project. Toyota Tsusho is the premier tin trading house in Asia and 

trades approximately 8% of the entire world wide tin market.  
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Under the terms of the MOU, Toyota Tsusho has the option to earn 20% interest by making the 

following staged milestone payments: 

Á A$1,000,000  - on signing the MOU (non-refundable); 

Á A$15,000,000 - on near term project milestones; and  

Á A Final Payment - within 90 days of completion of the definitive feasibility study (DFS) 

The Final Payment will be calculated as the lesser of either: 

a) (20% - ¢ƻȅƻǘŀ ¢ǎǳǎƘƻΩǎ bƻƳƛƴŀƭ tǊƻƧŜŎǘ ҈ύ Ȅ 5C{ bt±Τ ƻǊ  

b) 20% of DFS NPV ς AU$15,000,000. 

As of 30 June нлмн ¢ƻȅƻǘŀ ¢ǎǳǎƘƻ ƘŀŘ ƳŀŘŜ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘ όά¢лέύ ƻŦ ϷмΣлллΣллл ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ 

ǎŜŎƻƴŘ ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘ όά¢мέύ ƻŦ ϷпΣлллΣллл ŦƻǊ ǘƻǘŀƭ ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ ϷрΣлллΣлллΦ ¢ƘŜ ǘƘƛǊŘ ǎǘŀƎŜŘ 

ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘ όά¢нέύ ƻŦ ϷммΣлллΣллл ǿŀǎ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŜŘ ŀǎ ǇƭŀƴƴŜd on 31 July 2012. 

Á Option Conversions 

Alongside receiving the first three staged payments from Toyota Tsusho the Company received 

$7,500,000 through conversion of 25c options from three significant shareholders (International 

CƛƴŀƴŎŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ όάIFCέύ, African Lion Fund 3 όάAFLέύ and Traxys).  

5. FINANCIAL RESOURCES 

During the year the cash position of the Company remained relatively constant with cash at 

30 June 2012 being $18.6 million as compared to $21.9 million at 30 June 2011. 

Effectively operational activities for the 2011/2012 financial year were offset by the $7.6 million 

received from the exercise of Options by 3 significant shareholders, $5.0 million received from 

Toyota Tsusho and $1.1 million received in interest. 

In addition, at the end of July 2012 a further $11.0 million όά¢нέύ was received from Toyota Tsusho. 
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Your Directors present their report on the consoƭƛŘŀǘŜŘ Ŝƴǘƛǘȅ όǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ƘŜǊŜŀŦǘŜǊ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ άGroupέύ 

consisting of Kasbah Resources Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year 

ended 30 June 2012. 

DIRECTORS 

The following persons were Directors of Kasbah Resources Limited during the whole of the financial year 

and up to the date of this report:  

Á Wayne Bramwell 

Á Michael Spratt 

Á Rod Marston  

Á Gary Davison  

Á Ian McCubbing  

Á Robert Weinberg 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activity of the Group during the year was exploration for tin.  This has involved exploration 

and evaluation of tin projects in Morocco, North Africa. 

DIVIDENDS ς KASBAH RESOURCES LIMITED 

No dividend was paid or recommended during the year. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

A full review of the operations is set out in the Operations Report on pages 4 - 13. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

Contributed equity increased by $7,637,500 (from $48,838,722 to $56,476,222) as the result of the exercise 

of options granted to investors and granted to employees under the Kasbah Resources Employee Option 

Plan.  Details of the changes in contributed equity are disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements. 

On the 12 March 2012 the Company announced it had signed a Memorandum of Understanding (άMOUέ) 

with Toyota Tsusho Corporation (άToyota Tsushoέ) to enable the latter to acquire an interest in the 

Achmmach Tin Project. 

Under the terms of the MOU, Toyota Tsusho has the option to earn a 20% interest by making the following 

staged milestone payments: 

Á A$1,000,000  - on signing the MOU (non-refundable); 

Á A$15,000,000 - on near term project milestones; and  

Á A Final Payment - within 90 days of completion of the definitive feasibility study (DFS). 
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The Final Payment will be calculated as the lesser of either: 

a) (20% - ¢ƻȅƻǘŀ ¢ǎǳǎƘƻΩǎ bƻƳƛƴŀƭ tǊƻƧŜŎǘ ҈ύ Ȅ 5C{ bt±Τ ƻǊ  

b) 20% of DFS NPV ς AU$15,000,000. 

Since the signing of the MOU, Toyota Tsusho have made payments totalling $16,000,000 ($11,000,000 of 

this was received on 30 July 2012), with only the Final Payment ǎǘƛƭƭ ŘǳŜΦ  ¢ƻȅƻǘŀ ¢ǎǳǎƘƻΩǎ ƴƻƳƛƴŀƭ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ 

interest is 18.8% as a result of the payments to date. 

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

On 30 July 2012, $11,000,000 was received from Toyota Tsusho under the terms of the MOU signed in 

March 2012.   

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The Group will continue to explore on its properties, advance the DFS on Achmmach and seek new 

properties for exploration and evaluation. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 

In the course of its normal exploration activities the Group adheres to environmental regulations imposed 

upon it by the various regulatory authorities, particularly those relating to ground disturbance and 

protection of rare and endangered flora and fauna.  The Group has complied with all material 

environmental requirements to the date of this report.  The Directors have considered compliance with the 

National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 which requires entities to report annual greenhouse 

gas emissions and energy use.  Due to the location of the GroupΩǎ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎ ƛƴ aƻǊƻŎŎƻ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ƘŀǾŜ 

assessed that there are no current reporting requirements, but this may change in the future. 

The Group is not aware of any matter that requires disclosure regarding any significant environmental 

regulation in respect of its operating activities. 

RESULT 

The consolidated loss after income tax for the financial year was $13,568,080 (2011: loss of $11,335,286). 
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 

Mr David Michael Spratt BSc (Hons), FAUSIMM, FAICD, MAIME  

Independent Non-executive Chairman 

Michael is a Metallurgist with 49 years of experience in mining, mineral processing, smelting, engineering 

and construction both in Australia and overseas.  Michael was appointed as a Director of the Company on 

2 August 2010 and was appointed Chairman on 30 November 2010. 

Prior to commencing with Kasbah, he was the Managing Director for almost seven years, of Thailand 

Smelting and Refining Company Limited one of the largest tin smelters and refiners in the world. 

Previously Michael has held senior general management positions with a variety of resource related 

companies including General Manager of Operations of the Robe River Iron Ore Project, Managing Director 

of Simcoa (Australia's only silicon smelter), Operations Director of Minproc (now AMEC-Minproc) and 

Executive Vice-President and Operations Director of Kaiser Engineers Pty Ltd. 

Michael is currently a Non-executive Director of Galaxy Resources Limited and Non-executive Director of 

Hong Kong and Australian stock exchange listed Wah Nam International Holdings Limited.  Michael is also 

still a Director of Brockman Mining Limited which was previously listed on the Australian stock exchange as 

Brockman Resources Limited but is now a wholly owned subsidiary of Wah Nam International Holdings 

Limited.  

Michael has not held any other public company directorships in the last three years. 

Michael is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and is also a member of the Audit Committee. 

Mr Wayne Bramwell BSc (Mineral Science), Grad Dip Bus, MSC (Mineral Economics) 

Managing Director 

Wayne is a Metallurgist and Mineral Economist with over 21 ȅŜŀǊǎΩ ŜȄǇŜǊƛŜƴŎŜ in operations, engineering, 

project evaluation and management. He has held senior commercial, project management and 

development positions with Iberian Resources Limited, Breakaway Resources Limited, Harmony Gold 

(Australia) Pty Limited, Hill 50 Limited and several Australian engineering companies. Wayne is a co-founder 

of Kasbah Resources Limited and was appointed a Director of the Company on 31 October 2005. 

Wayne has not held any other public company directorships in the last three years. 

Dr Rodney Marston Bsc (Hons), Ph.D., MAIG, MSEG 

Independent Non-executive Director 

Rod is a Geologist with over 35 yearsΩ experience in the mineral exploration and mining industry, both in 

Australia and internationally.  He played a key role in the discovery, development and management of the 

multi-million ounce Damang Gold Mine in Ghana, West Africa.  Rod was appointed a Director of the 

Company on 15 November 2006. 

Rod is a Non-executive Director (and formerly Chairman) of Independence Group NL and was a Director of 

Ranger Minerals Limited prior to its merger with Perilya Limited. 

Rod has not held any other public company directorships in the last three years. 

Rod is a member of both the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. 
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Dr Robert Weinberg M.A., DPhil, FGS, FIMMM 

Independent Non-executive Director 

London based Robert gained his Doctorate in Geology from Oxford University and has more than 35 yearsΩ 

experience in the international mining industry.  He is a Fellow of the Geological Society of London and also 

of the Institute of Materials, Minerals and Mining.  He brings a wealth of marketing and investment banking 

experience to the Company having held executive positions including Managing Director, Institutional 

Investment at the World Gold Council.  Previously he was a Director of the investment banking division at 

Deutsche Bank in London after having been head of the global mining research team at SG Warburg 

Securities and head of the mining team at James Capel & Co.  He was formerly Marketing Manager of the 

gold and uranium division of Anglo American Corporation of South Africa Ltd.   

Robert is currently a Non-executive Director of Solomon Gold plc and Chaarat Gold Holdings Limited, both 

listed on AIM, as well as of Medusa Mining Ltd listed on the ASX and LSE. 

Robert was appointed a Director of the Company on 15 November 2006.  

Robert is not a member of any of the Board sub-committees.  

Mr Gary Davison Dip Min Eng., MSc (MEE) 

Independent Non-executive Director 

Gary is a Mining Engineer with 35 years of experience and is the Managing Director of Australian mining 

consultancy Mining One Pty Limited and was a founding director of Lightning Nickel Pty Ltd, the nickel 

operating arm of Independence Group NL.  

Gary began his career at the Renison Tin Mine in Tasmania where he worked for nine years in mine 

operations, planning and as Underground Manager.  He has extensive international mining experience and 

has held senior mine management positions throughout Australia in both underground and surface mining 

operations.  He also holds a Masters Degree in Mineral and Energy Economics from Macquarie University 

and a Diploma in Engineering Mining from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology.  Gary has invented 

and holds the world wide patents to a number of commercially available ground support systems used in 

mines throughout the world. 

Gary has not held any other public company directorships in the last three years. 

Gary is not a member of any of the Board sub-committees. 

Mr Ian McCubbing BCom (Hons),  MBA (Ex), CA, MAICD 

Independent Non-executive Director 

Ian is a Chartered Accountant with more than 30 yearsΩ corporate experience including mergers and 

ŀŎǉǳƛǎƛǘƛƻƴǎΣ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎŜ ŀƴŘ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ōŀƴƪƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ōƻǘƘ ǘƘŜ ōƻǊǊƻǿŜǊΩǎ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǊΩǎ ǎƛŘŜΦ Lŀƴ Ƙŀǎ 

spent more than 15 yearsΩ working with ASX 200 and other listed companies in senior finance roles, 

including positions as Finance Director and Chief Financial Officer in mining and industrial companies.  Ian 

was appointed as a Director of the Company on 1 March 2011. 

Ian was previously the Chief Financial Officer of GRD Limited and Chairman of Eureka Energy Limited and is 

currently a Non-executive Director of Mirabela Nickel Limited, Swick Mining Services Limited and Alcyone 

Resources Limited. 

Ian resigned as a Director of Territory Resources Limited on 31 July 2011 and as Chairman of Eureka Energy 

Limited on 20 June 2012 and has not held any other public company directorships in the last three years. 

Ian is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and is also a member of the Remuneration Committee. 
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COMPANY SECRETARY 

aǊ ¢ǊŜǾƻǊ hΩ/ƻƴƴƻǊ ..ǳǎ (Acc), CA 

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

Prior to joining Kasbah, Trevor held the position as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary for 

ipernica Limited, a position which he held since October 2004.  He has also held the position of Company 

Secretary for a number of public and private companies within the mining, property development, and e-

commerce sectors. 

Trevor is a Chartered Accountant with over 18 yearsΩ corporate experience. He has over 10 yearsΩ 

experience in the resources and mining services industry.  

FORMER COMPANY SECRETARY 

Mr Adrian Di Carlo BBus (Acc), CPA, MBA, Grad Dip ACG, ACIS 

Joint Company Secretary (resigned 27 October 2011) 

5Lw9/¢hw{Ω Lb¢9w9{¢S 

The following tables set out the relevant interests of each Director in the share capital of the Company at 

the date of this report and their participation in Board meetings during the year. 

Name of Director 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ LƴǘŜǊŜǎǘǎ ƛƴ 
Ordinary Shares 

Number of Options 

Granted 

Michael Spratt 648,412 - 

Wayne Bramwell 9,286,942 4,000,000 

Rodney Marston 1,479,244 - 

Robert Weinberg 475,912 - 

Gary Davison - - 

Ian McCubbing 200,000 - 
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5Lw9/¢hw{Ω a99¢LbD{ 

¢ƘŜ ƴǳƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5irectors and of each board committee held during 

the year ended 30 June 2012, and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director were: 

Name of Director Board Meetings Audit Committee 
Meetings 

Remuneration 
Committee Meetings 

 A B A B A B 

Michael Spratt 10 10 3 4 4 4 

Wayne Bramwell 10 10 - - 4 4 

Rodney Marston 10 10 4 4 4 4 

Robert Weinberg 10 10 - - - - 

Gary Davison 9 10 - - - - 

Ian McCubbing 9 10 3 4 3 4 

A- Number of meetings attended 

B- Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the Committee during the 

year. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT ς AUDITED 

This report details the amount and nature of remuneration of each Director of the Company and Executive 

Officers of the Company during the year. 

A. REMUNERATION POLICY 

Historically, the remuneration policy has been to provide a fixed remuneration component and a 

specific equity related component.  To reflect the changes in the international labour market and to 

bring Kasbah into line with current industry norms the Company has introduced a short term 

incentive plan (άSTIέ) for Senior Executives including the Managing Director.  Under this STI plan 

Senior Executives will be able to earn a cash bonus (based upon a percentage of their base salary) 

upon satisfactory completion of specific key performance indicators.  The Board believes this 

remuneration policy is appropriate given the stage of development of the Company and the activities 

which it undertakes and is consistent in aligning shareholder and corporate objectives. 

Under the STI plan the Managing Director has a target STI opportunity of 40% of base salary and the 

remaining key management personnel have an STI opportunity of 20% of base salary.  STI awards for 

the key management personnel in the 2012 financial year were based on targets (including by 

specific target dates) set by the remuneration committee and approved by the Board of Directors as 

set out below: 

Managing Director ς STI based 100% on achieving strategic objectives of the Company including 

completion of a Board approved PFS by a date previously set by the Board. 

Chief Operating Officer ς STI based 60% on achieving operational objectives including finalisation of 

land tenure matters and the meeting of drilling targets within specified timeframes.  In addition 40% 

of the STI is based on strategic objectives including completion of a board approved PFS by a date 

previously set by the Board. 

Chief Financial Officer / Company Secretary ς STI based 50% on achieving operational objectives 

including finalisation of legal matters within specified timeframes. In addition 50% of the STI is based 

on achieving strategic objectives including completion of a Board approved PFS by a date previously 

set by the Board. 

The remuneration committee is responsible for assessing whether the KPIs are met.  To assist in this 

assessment, the committee received detailed reports on performance from management.  
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Compensation levels for key management personnel of the Company and consolidated entity are 

reviewed annually and set to attract and retain appropriately qualified and experienced Directors 

and Executives.  The Board obtains independent advice on the structure and appropriateness of 

compensation packages so as to reflect trends in comparative companies and the broader resource 

sector.  

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders and 

Directors and Executives.  Currently, this is facilitated through the issue of options to the Managing 

Director and Executives to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests together 

with performance based bonuses based on key performance indicators.  The Company believes this 

policy will be effective in increasing shareholder wealth. 

Options are issued to employees at the discretion of the Directors or, in the case of the Board or 

Managing Director, by shareholder approval.  All options are issued for no consideration.  Options 

granted as part of  executive remuneration are valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, 

which takes account of factors including the option exercise price, the current level and volatility of 

the underlying share price, the risk free interest rate expected, expected dividends on the underlying 

share, current market price of the underlying share and the life of the option. 

The remuneration policy with regards to the Managing Director has been developed by the Board 

and takes into account market conditions and comparable salary levels for companies of similar size 

and operating in similar sectors.  

Directors receive Directors fees and the superannuation guarantee contribution (άSGCέ) required by 

the government.  The SGC is currently 9% of fees paid in cash and the directors do not receive any 

other retirement benefits.  However, some individuals have chosen to sacrifice part of their salary to 

increase payments towards superannuation.  

Lƴ {ŜǇǘŜƳōŜǊ нлммΣ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŎƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ ŜƴƎŀƎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜǎ ƻŦ DŜǊŀǊŘ 5ŀƴƛŜƭǎ 

Australia Pty Ltd to review its proposed fees and fee structure of Non-executive Directors.  Under the 

terms of the engagement, Gerard Daniels Australia Pty Ltd provided remuneration recommendations 

as defined in section 9B of the Corporations Act 2001 and was paid $8,000 (exclusive of GST) for 

these services. 

Gerard Daniels Australia Pty Ltd has confirmed that the above recommendations have been made 

free from undue influence by members of the GǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƪŜȅ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭΦ 
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The following arrangements were made to ensure that the remunerations recommendations were 

free from undue influence: 

Á Gerard Daniels Australia Pty Ltd was engaged by, and reported directly to the Remuneration 

Committee.  The agreement for the provision of remuneration consulting services was executed 

by the Managing Director under delegated authority of behalf of the board; and 

Á The report containing the remuneration recommendations was provided by Gerard Daniels 

Australia Pty Ltd directly to the Remuneration Committee. 

As a consequence, the Board is satisfied that the recommendations were made free from undue 

influence from any members of the key management personnel. 

The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to Non-executive Directors is currently 

$400,000 per annum and was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 

24 November 2011. 

Fees payable to Non-executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the 

responsibilities of, the Directors. Previously, Non-executive Directors of the Company have agreed to 

take their fees in the form of options which vested over a five or three year period.  In November 

2006, when these options were issued, they represented suitable compensation for Non-executive 

Board members when related to the cash fee which could have been paid.  The options vested over a 

period which concluded in November 2010.  Further details are contained in note 17. 
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B.  DETAILS OF REMUNERATION 

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of Directors and Executives of the Group are set out in the following tables.  

 
 Short-term Post 

Employment 

Long-term Share based payments  

 Year Salaries & 
fees 

Cash 
Bonus 

Superannuation Long Service 
Leave 

Options Total 

Name  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Executive Directors        

Wayne Bramwell - Managing Director 2012 294,910 94,374 26,542 9,255 203,933 629,014 

 2011 268,120 100,000 24,131 5,400 - 597,651 

Non-executive Directors        

Michael Spratt ς Non-executive Chairman 2012 48,762 - 41,238 - - 90,000 

  2011 20,416 - 36,667 - - 57,083 

Rodney Marston ς Non-executive Director *  2012 158 - 2,064 - - 2,222 

 2011 29,167 - - - 51,743 80,910 

Robert Weinberg ς Non-executive Director *  2012 2,222 - - - - 2,222 

 2011 29,167 - - - 51,743 80,910 

Gary Davison ς Non-executive Director 2012 45,872 - 4,128 - - 50,000 

(Appointed 1 Mar 2011) 2011 15,291 - 1,376 - - 16,667 

Ian McCubbing ς Non-executive Director 2012 45,872 - 4,128 - - 50,000 

(Appointed 1 Mar 2011) 2011 15,291 - 1,376 - - 16,667 

Graeme Walker (Resigned 30 Nov 2011) 2011 - - - - 51,743 51,743 

Total 2012 437,796 94,371 78,100 9,255 203,933 823,458 

Total 2011 377,452 100,000 63,550 5,400 155,259 701,661 
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Short-term Post 

Employment 

Long-term Share based payments  

 
Year Salaries & 

fees 
Cash 

Bonus 
Superannuation Long Service 

Leave 
Options Total 

Name  $ $ $  $ $ 

Key Management Personnel        

Mike Kitney (Chief Operating Officer) 2012 250,000 47,500 22,500 1,876 32,312 354,188 

(Appointed 1 Feb 2011) 2011 104,167 - 9,375 - - 113,542 

Chris Bolger (Country Manager) **  2011 220,184 - 19,817 - 50,121 290,122 

¢ǊŜǾƻǊ hΩ/ƻƴƴor (CFO & Company Secretary) 2012 206,700 39,976 18,603 1,334 32,312 298,925 

(Appointed 2 May 2011) 2011 32,500 - 2,925 - - 35,425 

Trevor Hart (CFO & Company Secretary)        

(Resigned 3 Mar 2011) 2011 139,735 - 11,292 - 16,481 167,508 

Total 2012 456,700 87,476 41,103 3,210 64,624 653,113 

Total 2011 496,586 - 43,409 - 66,602 606,597 

 

* During the year due to an oversight in the understanding of the terms of director options issued back in 2006, it was discovered that Dr Marston and Dr Weinberg had in fact 

been compensated twice for the period 1 December 2010 to 14 November 2011, once in options and subsequently in cash. Once this error was discovered immediate steps were 

taken to correct the situation and for the over paid cash to be returned. 

The confusion arose as a result of the fact that although the options vested fully by 15 November 2010 they were in fact covering directors fees up to 14 November 2011.  The 

double payment for each director for the period 1 December 2010 to 14 November 2011 totalled $47,778 ($29,167 relating to the 2010/11 financial year and $18,611 relating to 

2011/12 financial year).  The entire $47,778 adjustment for each director has been reflected in the 2011/2012 financial year. 

** In 2012 Chris Bolger no longer meets the definition of a key management person and hence his remuneration details are not disclosed. 
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The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as 

follows: 

Name Fixed Remuneration At risk - STI At risk ς LTI* 

 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Executive Directors       

Wayne Bramwell 52% 74% 15% 26% 33% - 

       

Non-executive Directors       

Michael Spratt 100% 100% - - - - 

Rodney Marston 100% 36% - - - 64% 

Robert Weinberg 100% 36% - - - 64% 

Gary Davison 100% 100% - - - - 

Ian McCubbing 100% 100% - - - - 

       

Key Management Personnel       

Mike Kitney 77% 100% 14% - 9% - 

Chris Bolger - 83% - - - 17% 

¢ǊŜǾƻǊ hΩ/ƻƴƴƻǊ 76% 100% 13% - 11% - 

Trevor Hart - 90% - - - 10% 

 
* Since the long term incentives are provided exclusively by way of options, the percentages disclosed reflect the value 

of remuneration consisting of options, based on the value of options expensed during the year. 
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C. SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

On appointment to the Board all Non-executive Directors enter into a service agreement with the 

Company in the form of a letter of appointment.  The letter summarises the BoardΩǎ policies and 

terms including compensation relevant to the office of Director. 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director are formalised into a 

service agreement.  

A summary of the key conditions of service contracts for current Executives is set out as follows: 

Wayne Bramwell ς Executive Director 

Á Term of Agreement ς No fixed term. 

Á Base Salary exclusive of superannuation of $294,910 to be reviewed annually. 

Á Compensation to be paid in cash. 

Á Performance related bonuses to be paid at the discretion of the Company. 

Á The Executive may terminate the agreement by providing three months written notice. 

Á The Company may terminate the agreement by providing twelve months written notice. 

Á On termination a maximum of twelve months salary and all accrued entitlements will be paid. 

Mike Kitney ς Chief Operating Officer 

Á Term of Agreement ς No fixed term. 

Á Base Salary exclusive of superannuation of $250,000. 

Á Compensation to be paid in cash. 

Á Performance related bonuses to be paid at the discretion of the Company. 

Á A notice period of three months must be served by either party. 

Á There are no termination benefits to be paid. 

¢ǊŜǾƻǊ hΩ/ƻƴƴƻǊ ς Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

Á Term of Agreement ς No fixed term. 

Á Base Salary exclusive of superannuation of $206,700. 

Á Compensation to be paid in cash. 

Á Performance related bonuses to be paid at the discretion of the Company. 

Á A notice period of three months must be served by either party. 

Á There are no termination benefits to be paid. 
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D. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS 

The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in the previous, current or 

future reporting periods are as follows: 

Grant date Vesting and exercise 
date 

Expiry Date Exercise price 
of options 

$ 

Value per 
option at 
grant date 

Vested 
(%) 

23 August 2011 23 August 2012 26 August 2014 0.25 0.052 0 

23 August 2011 23 August 2013 26 August 2014 0.25 0.052 0 

24 November 2011 24 November 2011 24 November 2014 0.25 0.064 100 

24 November 2011 24 November 2012 24 November 2014 0.25 0.064 0 

The exercise price of options is based on the weighted average price at which the CƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ 

are traded on the Australian Securities Exchange during the week up to and including the date of 

grant. 

Further details relating to options as provided as remuneration to each Director of Kasbah Resources 

Limited and each of the key management personnel of the parent entity are as follows: 

Name Number of 

options granted 

during the year 

Value of 

options at 

grant date* 

Number of 

options vested 

during the year 

Number of 

options lapsed 

during the year 

Value at lapse 

date**  

Directors  

Rodney Marston - - - 1,875,000 - 

Robert Weinberg - - - 1,875,000 - 

Wayne Bramwell 4,000,000 $257,600 2,000,000 4,000,000 - 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Mike Kitney 1,000,000 $51,700 - - - 

¢ǊŜǾƻǊ hΩ/ƻƴƴƻǊ 1,000,000 $51,700 - - - 

*  The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based Payment of options granted 

during the year as part of the remuneration. 

**  The value at lapse date of options that were granted as part of the remuneration and that lapsed during 

the year. The value is determined at the time of lapsing, but assuming the condition was satisfied. 

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted to the individuals is allocated equally over 

the period from grant date to vesting date, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables 

above.  Fair values at grant date are independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing 

model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the 

share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend 

yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 

No options were exercised by Directors or other key management personnel during the year. 
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Trading in the CompanyΩǎ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ōȅ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΣ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜǎ 

The Board has adopted a policy in relation to dealing in the securities of the Company which applies 

to all Directors, Officers and employees.  Under the policy, these persons are prohibited from dealing 

in the CompanyΩǎ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ǿƘƛƭǎǘ ƛƴ ǇƻǎǎŜǎǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǇǊƛŎŜ ǎŜƴǎƛǘƛǾŜ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ are also prohibited 

ŦǊƻƳ ǎƘƻǊǘ ǘŜǊƳ ƻǊ άŀŎǘƛǾŜέ ǘǊŀŘƛƴƎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ CompanyΩǎ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ǎǇŜŎƛŦƛŎ ōƭŀŎƪƻǳǘ ǇŜǊƛƻŘǎΦ  The 

Company Secretary must be notified as soon as practical upon the trading of securities under these 

circumstances. 

It would be impractical in this exploration phase of the GroupΩǎ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ŀ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜ ƻŦ 

executive reward over the performance of the Company to date.  More meaningful comparisons can 

be made once operations progress to development and mining.  There is no relationship between the 

CompanyΩǎ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ŦƻǊ ƪŜȅ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ CompanyΩǎ 

performance. 

This is the end of the audited remuneration report. 
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SHARES UNDER OPTION 

Unissued ordinary shares of Kasbah Resources Limited under option at the date of this report are as 

follows: 

Date options granted Expiry Date Exercise price of options 

$ 

Number of options 

1 May 2008 1 May 2013 0.35 1,000,000 

10 July 2008 11 July 2013 0.25 1,000,000 

17 February 2010 5 October 2015 0.10 1,000,000 

23 August 2011 26 August 2014 0.25 2,500,000 

24 November 2011 24 November 2014 0.25 4,000,000 

23 July 2012 23 July 2015 0.28 2,000,000 

   11,500,000 

No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the Company or 

any other entity. 

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF OPTIONS 

The following ordinary shares of Kasbah Resources Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2012 

on the exercise of options granted to shareholders and employees.  

Date option granted Exercise price of options 

$ 

Number of shares issued 

 

5 January 2010 0.10 500,000 

5 October 2010 0.10 500,000 

30 April 2010 0.25 6,650,000 

8 June 2010 0.25 7,250,000 

15 June 2010 0.25 16,250,000 

  31,150,000 

No further shares have been issued since that date. No amounts are unpaid on any of the above shares. 
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INSURANCE PREMIUMS 

During the year, the Company has paid an insurance premium in respect of a contract indemnifying the 

CompanyΩǎ Directors and Officers.  This contract does not permit disclosure of the nature of the liability and 

the amount of the premium. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible with 

the general standard of independence of auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  The Directors are 

ǎŀǘƛǎŦƛŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜǎ ŘƛǎŎƭƻǎŜŘ ōŜƭƻǿ ŘƛŘ ƴƻǘ ŎƻƳǇǊƻƳƛǎŜ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴŎŜ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 

following reason: 

The nature of the services provided does not compromise the general principles relating to auditor 

independence as issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board APES110 ς Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants. 

The following fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to the external auditors during the year ended 

30 June 2012. 

  Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Remuneration Of Auditors    

Other Services by related practices of BDO 

Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 
   

Taxation  and other services  24,316 101,095 

Total Remuneration for other services  24,316 101,095 

 

!¦5L¢hw{Ω Lb59t9b59b/E DECLARATION 

¢ƘŜ ŎƻǇȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ LƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴŎŜ 5ŜŎƭŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŀǎ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴǎ олтŎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴs 

Act 2001 is set out on page 37. 

This report has been signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made at Perth on 

25 September 2012. 

 
Wayne Bramwell 

Managing Director 
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The Board of Directors is responsible for the corporate governance of Kasbah Resources Ltd.  The Board 

considers good corporate governance a matter of high importance.  In reviewing the corporate governance 

structure of the Company, the Board ƛǎ ƎǳƛŘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ {ŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ 9ȄŎƘŀƴƎŜΩǎ όάASXέ) Corporate 

Governance Principles and Recommendations (άASX Principles and Recommendationsέ).  Kasbah follows 

the ASX Principles and Recommendations to the maximum extent practicable. 

²ƘŜǊŜ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ ƎƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ ǇǊŀŎǘƛŎŜǎ Řƻ ƴƻǘ ŎƻǊǊŜƭŀǘŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ !{· tǊƛƴŎƛǇƭŜǎ ŀƴŘ 

Recommendations it is because the Board does not consider it practical to implement those 

recommendations due to the ǎƛȊŜ ŀƴŘ ǎǘŀƎŜ ƻŦ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ BoardΩǎ 

reasoning for any departure is explained. 

Set out below are the fundamental corporate governance practices of the Company: 

1. The Board Lays Solid Foundations For Management And Oversight Role Of The Board 

The BoardΩǎ ǊƻƭŜ ƛǎ ǘƻ ƎƻǾŜǊƴ ǘƘŜ Company.  The Board delegates to management the day to day 

management of the operations of the CompanyΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΦ  In governing the Company, the Directors 

must act in the best interests of the Company as a whole.  Each member of the Board is committed to 

spending sufficient time to enable them to carry out their duties as a Director of the Company.  In 

addition, it is the intention that Non-executive Directors receive formal letters of appointment setting 

out the key terms, conditions, responsibilities and expectations of their appointment. 

Responsibilities of the Board 

The Board is ultimately responsible for, and has the authority to determine, all matters relating to the 

policies, practices, management and operations of the Company.  It is required to do all things that 

may be necessary to be done in order to carry out the objectives of the Company.  The Board 

delegates authority to Senior Executives to carry out specific duties in support of the objectives of the 

Company.  

The Board has established the following committees to assist it in discharging its functions: 

Á Audit Committee; and 

Á Remuneration Committee. 

Board responsibilities are set out in the CompanyΩǎ Board Charter which is available in the Corporate 

DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ aŀƴǳŀƭ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ά/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜέΦ 

The Board ƘƻƭŘǎ ǊŜƎǳƭŀǊ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎǎ ŀƴŘ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ŀǘǘŜƴŘŀƴŎŜ ŀǘ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎǎ ƛǎ ǎŜǘ ƻǳǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ 

Report section of this Annual Report. 

It is the role of Senior Executives to manage the day to day operations of the Company in accordance 

with the direction and delegations of the Board and it is the responsibility of the Board to oversee the 

activities of management in carrying out these delegated duties. 

Independent Professional Advice and Access to Information 

Each Director has the right of access to all of the CompanyΩǎ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ǘƻ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ 9xecutives. 

Further, each Director and the Board collectively has the right to seek independent professional 

advice from a suitably qualified advisor, at the CompanyΩǎ ŜȄǇŜƴǎŜΣ ǘƻ ŀǎǎƛǎǘ ǘƘŜƳ ǘƻ ŎŀǊǊȅ ƻǳǘ ǘƘŜƛǊ 

responsibilities.  Where appropriate, a copy of this advice is to be made available to all other 

members of the Board. 
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Performance Review/Evaluation 

The performance of Senior Executives of the Company is to be reviewed annually, with the appraisal 

carried out by the Managing Director and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.  Performance 

reviews were undertaken during the financial year pursuant to this process. 

2. The Board is Structured to Add Value 

Composition of the Board and Details of Directors 

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises of six Directors, of which Mr Wayne 

Bramwell is the Managing Director.  The remaining five Directors are Non-executive Directors: Mr 

Michael Spratt, who is the Non-executive Chairman of the Board; Dr Rodney Marston; Dr Robert 

Weinberg; Mr Ian McCubbing and Mr Gary Davison.  Further details of the Directors such as their 

qualifications, skills and experience and their terms of oŦŦƛŎŜ ŀǊŜ ǎŜǘ ƻǳǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ 

section of this Annual Report.   

The Board assesses the necessary competencies of the Board, reviews Board succession plans, and 

develops policies and processes for evaluation of the Board and the nomination, appointment and re-

election of Directors.  These responsibilities, as set out in the Board Charter and Procedures for 

Selection and Appointment of Directors (available in the Corporate Governance Manual), are carried 

out by the Board rather than a separate nomination committee.  

Independence 

In appointing Directors, the Board must ensure that any candidate has the appropriate range of skills, 

experience and expertise that will best complement Board effectiveness.  The Company recognises 

the importance of Non-executive Directors and the external perspective and advice that Non-

executive Directors can offer.  It is the approach and attitude of each Non-executive Director, which 

is critical to determining independence and this must be considered in relation to each Director, 

while taking into account all other relevant factors as set out in the Board Charter.  A majority of the 

Directors of the Board are independent. The Chairman is an Independent Non-executive Director and 

there is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman and the Managing Director.  The 

Managing Director is not independent as he is employed in an executive capacity.  All other Non-

executive Directors are independent.  In assessing independence, the Board has taken into 

consideration the relationships affecting independent status pursuant to the ASX Principles and 

Recommendations. 

Performance Review /  Evaluation 

The Board and Committees review their performance after each meeting by informal discussion. 

During the year the Board conducted an informal review of the skills and experience of the Directors 

and the alignment of those skills with the requirements of the Board.  This review is ongoing. 
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3. The Board Promotes Ethical and Responsible Decision Making 

Code of Conduct 

As part of its commitment to recognising its legal obligations and the legitimate interests of 

stakeholders, the Company has an established Code of Conduct to guide compliance with legal, 

ethical and other obligations to legitimate stakeholders and the practices necessary to maintain the 

CompanyΩǎ ƛƴǘŜƎǊƛǘȅΦ  Also, the policies provide guidance to assist dealing with business issues in a 

manner that is consistent with the CompanyΩǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ǘƻ ƭŜƎƛǘƛƳŀǘŜ ǎǘŀƪŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ 

responsibility and accountability required of the CompanyΩǎ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭ ŦƻǊ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƛƎŀǘƛƴƎ 

unethical practices. 

! ŎƻǇȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ /ƻƴŘǳŎǘ ƛǎ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ aŀƴǳŀƭ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ 

ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ά/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜΦέ 

Diversity Policy 

The Company values diǾŜǊǎƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜǎ ǘƘŜ ōŜƴŜŦƛǘǎ ƛǘ Ŏŀƴ ōǊƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƻǊƎŀƴƛǎŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ 

achieve its goals.  Accordingly the Company has a developed a diversity policy which is included in the 

/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ aŀƴǳŀƭ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ά/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜΦέ  ¢Ƙƛǎ 

ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ƻǳǘƭƛƴŜǎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜǎ ƛƴ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ƎŜƴŘŜǊΣ ŀƎŜΣ ŎǳƭǘǳǊŀƭ ōŀŎƪƎǊƻǳƴŘ ŀƴŘ 

ethnicity.  It includes requirements for the Board, at the appropriate time, to establish measurable 

objectives for achieving diversity and for the board to assess annually both the objectives and the 

/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǇǊƻƎǊŜǎǎ ƛƴ ŀŎƘƛŜǾƛƴƎ ǘƘŜƳΦ 

At the date of this report the Company has only three Senior Executives.  No women are presently 

represented on the Board. 

Due to the current size, nature and ǎŎŀƭŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ Ƙŀǎ ƴƻǘ ȅŜǘ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇŜŘ 

objectives regarding gender diversity.  As the size and scale of the Company grows the Board will set 

and aim to achieve gender diversity objectives as Director and Senior Executive positions become 

vacant and appropriately qualified candidates become available.  The following table reflects gender 

diversity for the Company at the date of this report: 

 Total Women % of Women 

Employees at site in Morocco 33 Nil Nil 

Employees at head office in 

Australia 

 

8 

 

3 

 

37.5% 

Employees in the whole 

organisation 

 

41 

 

3 

 

7.3% 

    

Senior Executives 3 - Nil 

Board members 6 - Nil 
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Trading in Kasbah Securities 

The Company has established a Securities Trading Policy for its Directors, Senior Executives, 

employees, consultants and contractors of the Company which is appropriate for a Company whose 

shares are admitted to trading on the ASX. 

A copy of the Securities Trading Policy is available in the Corporate Governance Manual located on 

YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ά/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜΦέ 

4. The Board Safeguards Integrity in Financial Reporting  

The Board has established an Audit Committee to assist the Board.  The responsibilities of the Audit 

Committee are set out in a formal charter approved by the Board.  This Charter is available in the 

/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ aŀƴǳŀƭ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ά/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜΦέ 

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Audit Committee consists of three Independent Non-

executive Directors of the Board.  The Chairman of the Committee, Mr Ian McCubbing is not the 

Chairman of the Board.  The other members of the Audit Committee are Mr Michael Spratt and 

Dr Rodney Marston.   

The Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the appointment and removal of the 

external auditor, the terms of appointment and fees, and ensures that the incumbent firm (and the 

responsible service team) has suitable qualifications and experience to conduct an effective audit. 

The Audit Committee is also responsible for recommending procedures for the rotation of external 

ŀǳŘƛǘ ŜƴƎŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǇŀǊǘƴŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ ŀƴƴǳŀƭƭȅ ǊŜǾƛŜǿƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ ŀƴŘ 

independence. 

The Committee meets to review the half-year and annual results of the Company, and to review the 

audit process, and those representations made by management in support of monitoring the GroupΩǎ 

commitment to integrity in financial reporting. 

Details of the qualifications of the members of the Audit Committee and their attendance at 

committee meetings are set out in the DirecǘƻǊΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘƛǎ !ƴƴǳŀƭ wŜǇƻǊǘΦ 

5. The Board Makes Timely and Balanced Disclosure 

YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ /ƻƴǘƛƴǳƻǳǎ 5ƛǎŎƭƻǎǳǊŜ tƻƭƛŎȅ ƛǎ ŘŜǎƛƎƴŜŘ ǘƻ ŜƴǎǳǊŜ ǘƘŀǘ ǇǊƻŎŜŘǳǊŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƛƴ ǇƭŀŎŜ ǘƻ ŜƴǎǳǊŜ 

compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements.  The Managing Director and the Company 

Secretary have been designated as the CompanyΩǎ ŘƛǎŎƭƻǎǳǊŜ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜ ŦƻǊ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘƛƴƎ 

and administering this policy.  

A summary of the Continuous Disclosure Policy is available in the Corporate Governance Manual 

loŎŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ά/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜΦέ 

6. The Board Respects the Rights of Shareholders 

The Company respects the rights of its shareholders and seeks to facilitate the effective exercise of 

those rights by promoting effective communication with shareholders and encouraging shareholder 

participation at annual general meetings.  The Company has established a Shareholder 

/ƻƳƳǳƴƛŎŀǘƛƻƴǎ tƻƭƛŎȅ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ aŀƴǳŀƭ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ 

ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ά/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜΦέ 
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7. The Board Recognises and Manages Risk 

The Company is committed to the identification, monitoring and management of material business 

risks of its activities.  The Company has a Risk Management and Internal Compliance and Control 

Policy (available iƴ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ aŀƴǳŀƭύ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ƎǳƛŘŀƴŎŜ ŦƻǊ ƛǘǎ Ǌƛǎƪ 

management practices.  Management is responsible for overseeing and approving risk management 

strategy and policies, internal compliance and internal control.  Management provides specific 

recommendations to the Board regarding the existence and status of business risks.  The Company 

has established a risk register that is maintained by management on an ongoing basis.   

The Board oversees the CompanyΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ Ǌƛǎƪǎ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŜǎ reports from management at 

each Board meeting.  The Board does not require a formal report from management on whether the 

Company's material business risks are being managed effectively as its current risk management 

reporting process is sufficient for the CompanyΩǎ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ ǎǘŀƎŜ ƻŦ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘΦ 

Through this oversight function and management reporting process, the Board reviews the areas of 
material business risks and aims to ensure, where applicable, that management has appropriate 
measures in place to protect the assets of the Company.  

The Board at each Board meeting and the Audit Committee at each committee meeting makes 

enquiries of management and receives assurances from the Managing Director and the Chief 

Financial Officer in relation to financial reporting risks.  In addition, the Board delegates the adequacy 

and content of risk reporting to management.  As part of the audit processes and review throughout 

the year, the Board receives feedback that management has provided assurances to the auditors in 

relation to financial risks within the overall risk management framework.  

Attestations by the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer 

In accordance with Recommendation 7.3 of the ASX Principles and Recommendations, the Managing 

Director and Chief Financial Officer have stated to the Board: 

That: 

Á the statement given in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 is founded 

on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements 

the policies adopted by the Board; and 

Á the CompanyΩǎ Ǌƛǎƪ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎƻƳǇƭƛŀƴŎŜ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ ƛǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ 

efficiently and effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

8. The Board Remunerates Fairly and Responsibly 

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee to assist the Board. The responsibilities of the 

Remuneration Committee are set out in a formal Charter approved by the Board which is available in 

ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ aŀƴǳŀƭ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ά/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜΦέ 
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The Remuneration Committee monitors and reviews the performance of the Managing Director, 

Senior Executives and management. The Remuneration Committee also has responsibility for 

ensuring the Company: 

Á has coherent remuneration policies and practices to attract and retain Directors and Senior 

Executives who aim to create value for shareholders; 

Á observes those remuneration policies and practices; and 

Á fairly and responsibly rewards Senior Executives having regard to their performance, the 

performance of the Company and general remuneration practices adopted by other publicly 

listed companies. 

The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr Michael Spratt, who is also Chairman of the 

Board and is an independent Non-executive Director.  The other members of the Committee are the 

independent Non-executive Directors Mr Ian McCubbing and Dr Rodney Marston.  The composition is 

ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŜŘ ŀǇǇǊƻǇǊƛŀǘŜ ǘƻ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜƭȅ ǳƴŘŜǊǘŀƪŜ ǘƘŜ wŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜΩǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ 

external assistance and advice, as required, is sought to assist in determining appropriate levels of 

remuneration for the Directors and senior executives of the Company. 

Directors and Senior Executives are not permitted to enter into transactions with securities (or any 

derivative thereof) which limit the economic risk of any unvested entitlements awarded under any 

equity-based remuneration scheme currently in operation or which will be offered by the Company 

in the future.  However, Directors and Senior Executives will consult with the Chairman if they are 

considering, or if they are not sure, as to whether entering into transactions may limit the economic 

risk of unvested entitlements they may have. 

Further details of the remuneration structure of the Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors and 

Senior EȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜǎΩ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŀǊŜ ǎŜǘ ƻǳǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ wŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ wŜǇƻǊǘ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘƛǎ !ƴƴǳŀƭ 

Report. 
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A

ǳŘƛǘƻǊǎΩ LƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴŎŜ 5ŜŎƭŀǊŀǘƛƻ 
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Consolidated Statement Of Comprehensive Income 

 Note  Consolidated  

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Revenue from continuing operations 2 878,386 875,437 

Other Income 2 2,708,875 165,173 

    

Exploration and evaluation expenditure  11,840,613 8,235,884 

Impairment expense 3 2,133,035 1,197,798 

Employee option based payment expense  312,329 255,166 

Accounting and corporate fees  479,648 342,694 

Employee benefits expenses  1,364,448 1,153,952 

Occupancy expense  142,622 106,740 

Administration expenses  621,283 667,930 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 3 317,509 183,701 

Travel expenses  132,166 174,346 

Other expenses from ordinary activities  2,794 57,685 

(Loss) from continuing operations before tax 

expense  (13,759,186) (11,335,286) 

Income tax benefit/(expense)   4 191,106 - 

(Loss) after tax  from continuing operations  (13,568,080) (11,335,286) 

Other comprehensive income    

Foreign currency translation difference on foreign 

operations  (346,229) (108,813) 

Total comprehensive loss for the period 
attributable to the owners of Kasbah Resources 
Limited  (13,914,309) (11,444,099) 

    

Basic (loss) per share (cents per share) 21 (3.68) (3.61) 

Diluted (loss) per share (cents per share) 21 (3.68) (3.61) 

 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement Of Financial Position 

The consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes.

 

 
Note  Consolidated  

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  6 18,641,648 21,850,851 

Trade and other receivables  7 1,755,417 697,338 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 8 1 1 

Total Current Assets   20,397,066 22,548,190 

Non-Current Assets     

Property, plant and equipment  9 1,006,894 821,007 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 10 4,056,911 - 

Total Non-Current Assets   5,063,805 821,007 

Total Assets   25,460,871 23,369,197 

Current Liabilities     

Trade and other  payables  11 6,043,382 1,070,668 

Total Current Liabilities   6,043,382 1,070,668 

Non-Current Liabilities     

Trade and other payables 11 3,061,158 - 

Provisions 12 42,933 20,651 

Total Non-Current Liabilities   3,104,091 20,651 

Total Liabilities   9,147,473 1,091,319 

NET ASSETS   16,313,398 22,277,878 

Equity    

Issued capital  13 56,476,222 48,838,722 

Reserves 14 2,206,687 2,240,587 

Accumulated losses  (42,369,511) (28,801,431) 

    

TOTAL EQUITY    16,313,398 22,277,878 
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Consolidated Statement Of Changes In Equity  
 

Issued  

Capital 
Accumulated 

Losses 

Share Based 
Payments 
Reserves 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserves 

Total 
attributed to 

equity 
holders 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

CONSOLIDATED      

Balance  1 July 2010 19,998,350 (17,466,145) 2,503,854 (409,620) 4,626,439 

      

Total comprehensive loss for the period      

      

Loss for the period  - (11,335,286) - - (11,335,286) 

Other comprehensive income - - - (108,813) (108,803) 

      

Total comprehensive loss for the period - (11,335,286) - (108,813) (11,444,099) 

Transaction with owners in their capacity as 
owners      

      

Share based payments - - 255,166 - 255,166 

Issue of fully paid shares 30,339,422 - - - 30,339,422 

Share issue costs (1,499,050) - - - (1,499,050) 

Balance 30 June 2011 48,838,722 (28,801,431) 2,759,020 (518,433) 22,277,878 

      

Balance 1 July 2011 48,838,722 (28,801,431) 2,759,020 (518,433) 22,277,878 

      

Total comprehensive loss for the period      

      

Loss for the period  - (13,568,080) - - (13,568,080) 

Other comprehensive income - - - (346,229) (346,229) 

      

Total comprehensive loss for the period - (13,568,080) - (346,229) (13,914,309) 

Transaction with owners in their capacity as 
owners      

      

Share based payments - - 312,329 - 312,329 

Issue of fully paid shares 7,637,500 - - - 7,637,500 

Share issue costs - - - - - 

Balance 30 June 2012 56,476,222 (42,369,511) 3,071,349 (864,662) 16,313,398 

 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes. 
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Consolidated 

 Note  Consolidated  

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

    

Cash flows from operating activities     

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (2,663,360) (2,862,886) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation  (11,753,404) (7,787,757) 

Interest received  1,101,354 555,770 

Other Income  1,976 91 

    

Net cash outflow from operating activities 19b (13,313,434) (10,094,782) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities     

Payment for security deposits and bonds  (961,642) - 

Acquisition of mining assets  (1,093,016) - 

Acquisition of plant and equipment  (579,732) (620,618) 

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  17,597 - 

    

Net cash outflow from investing activities    (2,616,793) (620,618) 

    

Cash flow from financing activities     

Proceeds from share issues  7,637,500 30,339,422 

Proceeds from Toyota Tsusho   5,000,000 - 

Costs associated with share issues  - (1,499,050) 

    

Net cash inflow from financing activities    12,637,500 28,840,372 

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  (3,292,727) 18,124,972 

Cash at the beginning of the financial year   21,850,851 3,738,380 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held in 

foreign currencies  83,524 (12,501) 

Cash at the end of the financial year  6a 18,641,648 21,850,851 

The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out 

below.  The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of Kasbah Resources 

Limited and its subsidiaries.  

Basis of Preparation  

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 

Board, including Australian Accounting Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.  

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.  

The financial statements are presented on a going concern basis.  

Compliance with IFRS  

The consolidated financial statements of Kasbah Resources Limited comply with International 

Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Historical Cost Convention 

These financial statements have been prepared on the accruals basis under the historical cost 

convention. 

Financial Statement Presentations 

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Group in the 

preparation of the financial report. 

Accounting Policies  

a) Principles of Consolidation 

Subsidiaries  

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of 

YŀǎōŀƘ wŜǎƻǳǊŎŜǎ [ƛƳƛǘŜŘ όǘƘŜ άCompanyέ ƻǊ άtŀǊŜƴǘ 9ƴǘƛǘȅέύ ŀǎ at 30 June 2012 and the results 

of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which a member of 

the Group has the power to govern in their financial and operating policies, generally 

accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights.  The existence and 

effect of potential voting rights currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 

assessing whether any member of the Group controls another entity.  

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 

They are de-consolidated from the date control ceases.  

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group 

companies are eliminated on consolidation.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless a 

transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.  
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b) Income Tax  

The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any 

non-assessable or disallowed items.  It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted 

or are substantially enacted by the reporting date.  

Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method in respect of temporary differences 

arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 

statements.  No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or 

liability, excluding a business combination where there is no effect on accounting or taxable 

profit or loss.  

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates expected to apply to the period when the asset is 

realised or liability is settled.  Deferred tax is credited in the profit or loss except where it relates 

to items which may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted 

directly against equity.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it is probable future tax profits will be available 

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  

The amount of benefits brought to account, or which may be realised in the future, is based on 

the assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation, and the 

anticipation that the entity will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit 

to be realised and to comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law. 

c) Trade and Other Receivables  

Trade and other receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised and carried 

at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts.  An allowance for 

doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 

collect the debts.  Bad debts are written off when identified. 

d) Trade and Other Payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end 

of the financial year which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 

30 days of recognition.  Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless 

payment is not due within 12 months from the reporting date.  They are recognised initially at 

their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. 

e) Property, Plant and Equipment  

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation 

and impairment losses.  

Plant and Equipment  

Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis, less impairment. 

{ǳōǎŜǉǳŜƴǘ Ŏƻǎǘǎ ŀǊŜ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻǊ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜŘ as a separate asset, 

as appropriate, only when it is probable future economic benefits associated with the item will 

flow to the entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 

maintenance are charged to profit or loss in the financial period in which they are incurred. 
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The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful 

lives from the time the asset is held ready for use.  

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 

Plant and equipment 20 ς 33% 

Computer equipment 20 ς 30% 

Motor vehicles 20 ς 30% 

¢ƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘǎΩ ǊŜǎƛŘǳŀƭ ǾŀƭǳŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǳǎŜŦǳƭ ƭƛǾŜǎ ŀǊŜ ǊŜǾƛŜǿŜŘΣ ŀƴŘ ŀŘƧǳǎǘŜŘ ƛŦ ŀǇǇǊƻǇǊƛŀǘŜΣ ŀǘ ŜŀŎƘ 

reporting date. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. 

These gains and losses are included in profit or loss. 

At each reporting date, the entity reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets 

to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired.  If such an 

ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ŜȄƛǎǘǎΣ ǘƘŜ ǊŜŎƻǾŜǊŀōƭŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΣ ōŜƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ƘƛƎƘŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŦŀƛǊ ǾŀƭǳŜ 

ƭŜǎǎ Ŏƻǎǘǎ ǘƻ ǎŜƭƭ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƛƴ ǳǎŜΣ ƛǎ ŎƻƳǇŀǊŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŎŀǊǊying value.  Any excess of the 

ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻǾŜǊ ƛǘǎ ǊŜŎƻǾŜǊŀōƭŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƛǎ ŜȄǇŜƴǎŜŘ ǘƻ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ƻǊ ƭƻǎǎΦ 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the entity 

estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

f) Leases  

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of 

the asset, but where legal ownership is not transferred to the entity, are classified as finance 

leases.  

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts 

equal to the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease 

payments, including any guaranteed residual values.  Lease payments are allocated between the 

reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the year.  

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful 

lives or the lease term.  

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with 

the lessor, are charged to the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.  

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-

line basis over the life of the lease term.  

g) Financial Instruments Recognition  

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on trade date, including transaction 

costs, when the related contractual rights or obligations exist.  Subsequent to initial recognition 

these instruments are measured as set out below.  
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Loans and Receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

not quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 

method.  Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised initially at fair 

value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an 

allowance for any uncollectable amounts.  

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts known to be 

uncollectable are written off when identified.  An allowance for doubtful debts is raised when 

there is objective evidence the entity will not be able to collect the debt. 

Financial Liabilities  

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less 

principal payments and amortisation.  

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, 

whether or not billed to the entity.  Trade accounts are normally settled within 60 days.  

Payables to related parties are carried at amortised cost.  Interest, when charged by the lender, 

is recognised using the effective interest rate method.  

Fair Value  

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments.  Valuation 

techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent 

ŀǊƳΩǎ ƭŜƴƎǘƘ ǘǊŀƴǎŀctions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 

h) Issued Capital  

Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the 

Company.  Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in 

equity as a reduction of the proceeds received.  

i) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances  

Functional and presentation currency  

Items included in the financial statements of each of the GroupΩǎ ŜƴǘƛǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜŘ ǳǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ 

curǊŜƴŎȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƛƳŀǊȅ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ŜƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘ ƛƴ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜ Ŝƴǘƛǘȅ ƻǇŜǊŀǘŜǎ όάǘƘŜ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴŀƭ 

ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅέύΦ  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is 

YŀǎōŀƘ wŜǎƻǳǊŎŜǎ [ƛƳƛǘŜŘΩǎ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴŀƭ ŀƴŘ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅΦ 

Transactions and Balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 

rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 

from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end of monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit or loss. 
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Group Companies 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 

hyperinflationary economy) which have a functional currency different from the presentation 

currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the 

closing rate at the date of the statement of financial position. 

Income and expenses for each item in the statement of comprehensive income are translated at 

average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect 

of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are 

translated at the dates of the transactions); and all resulting exchange differences are 

recognised as a separate component of equity. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in 

foreign entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such 

ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘǎΣ ŀǊŜ ǘŀƪŜƴ ǘƻ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ ŜǉǳƛǘȅΦ ²ƘŜƴ ŀ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ǎƻƭŘ ƻǊ ŀƴȅ 

borrowings forming part of the net investment is repaid, a proportionate share of such exchange 

differences are recognised in the income statement, as part of the gain or loss on sale where 

applicable. 

j) Employee Benefits  

Provision is made for the CompanyΩǎ liability for employee benefits arising from services 

rendered by employees at reporting date. Employee benefits which are expected to be settled 

within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is 

settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been 

measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those 

benefits.  

Equity-settled Compensation  

The Company issues share-based compensation. This includes a share option arrangement 

whereby fair value is measured by using an option pricing model.  The fair value determined at 

grant date of the equity-settled share based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over 

the vesting period and is recognised as an expense in profit or loss. 

k) Provisions  

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of 

past events, for which it is probable an outflow of economic benefits will result and the outflow 

can be reliably measured.  

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and 

measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 

provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period.  Consideration is given to 

expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 

service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the 

reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, 

as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
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l) Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-

term highly liquid investments with original maturities of six months or less.  

m) Revenue  

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon the delivery of goods to customers.  Interest 

revenue is recognised on a proportional basis using the effective interest rate method.  All 

revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).  

n) Goods and Services Tax (GST) and Value Added Tax (VAT) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST/VAT. Receivables and 

payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST/VAT.  

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST/VAT 

component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable 

from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.  

o) Earnings Per Share  

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit or loss attributable to members of the parent 

entity, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference 

share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any 

bonus elements.  

The diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent 

entity, adjusted for:  

Á costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;  

Á the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary 

shares have been recognised as expenses; and  

Á other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period which would 

result from the dilution of potential ordinary shares; 

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary 

shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 

p) Segment Reporting  

AASB 8 requires a management approach under which segment information is presented on the 

same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.  Operating segments are now reported 

in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting to the chief operating decision maker 

όά/h5aέύΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ Company as the Managing Director and other 

members of the Board of Directors.   
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q) Parent Entity Financial Information 

Financial information for the parent entity, Kasbah Resources Limited, is disclosed in note 20 and 

has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements. 

r) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is generally written off in the year incurred, except for 

acquisition of exploration properties which is capitalised and carried forward.  

When production commences, any accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest which 

have been capitalised and carried forward will be amortised over the life of the area according 

to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable resources.  

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of 

continuing to carry forward costs in relation to the area of interest.  The carrying value of any 

capitalised expenditure is assessed by the Directors each year to determine if any provision 

should be made for the impairment of the carrying value.  The appropriateness of the GroupΩǎ 

ability to recover these capitalised costs has been assessed at year end and the Directors are 

satisfied the value is recoverable.  

The carrying value of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for 

impairment at the cash generating unit level whenever facts and circumstances suggest that the 

carrying amount of the asset may exceed its recoverable amount.  An impairment exists when 

the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable 

amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount. Any 

impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.  

s) Non-current Assets Held For Sale 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is 

considered highly probable.  They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 

value less costs to sell. 

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset to fair 

value less costs to sell.  A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs 

to sell of an asset, but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised.  A 

gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current asset is 

recognised at the date of derecognition. 

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or 

amortised while they are classified as held for sale.  Interest and other expenses attributable to 

the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are presented separately from the other assets in 

the statement of financial position. 

t) Comparative Figures  

Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform 

to changes in presentation for the current financial year.  
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u) Critical Accounting Estimates and Significant Judgements  

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based 

on historical knowledge and the best available current information.  Estimates assume a 

reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, 

obtained both externally and within the entity.  As at 30 June 2012, the only items affecting 

assets or liabilities which are subject to significant accounting estimates and judgements are set 

out below.  

Share Based Payments  

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with Non-executive 

directors and employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at 

which they are granted and applying an estimated probability that they will vest.  The fair value 

is determined by using a Black-Scholes model.  Refer to note 17 for details on the calculation of 

share based payments. 

v) New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Group 

There have been no new standards and amendments to standards that were mandatory for the 

first time for the financial year beginning 1 July 2011 that have been adopted by the group. 

w) New accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet Adopted 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not 

mandatory for 30 June 2012 reporting periods and have not yet been applied in the financial 

report.  ¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ impact of these new standards and interpretations is set 

out below. 

*  AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from AASB 9 (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2015). AASB 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognising of 

financial assets and financial liabilities.  Kasbah Resources is continuing to assess the impact 

of the standard. 

*  AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for annual reporting periods 

commencing on or after 1 January 2013). AASB 10 introduces certain changes to the 

consolidation principles, including the concept of de facto control and changes in relation to 

the special purpose entities.  Kasbah Resources is continuing to assess the impact of the 

standard.  

*  AASB 11 Joint Arrangements (effective for the annual reporting periods commencing on or 

after 1 January 2013). AASB 11 changes the classification and accounting for joint 

arrangements based on the specified rights and obligations of the agreement.  Kasbah 

Resources is continuing to assess the impact of the standard.  

*  AASB 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities.  AASB 12 sets out the required disclosures 

for entities reporting under the two new standards, AASB 10 and AASB 11, and replaces the 

disclosure requirements currently found in AASB 127 and AASB 128. Kasbah Resources is 

continuing to assess the impact of the standard. 

 



Notes to The Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

 
KASBAH RESOURCES LIMITED 2012 ANNUAL REPORT  50 | P ag e  

 

*  AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement (effective for annual reporting periods commencing on or 

after 1 January 2013).  AASB 13 establishes a single framework for measuring fair value of 

financial and non-financial items recognised at fair value.  Kasbah Resources is continuing to 

assess the impact of the standard.  

*  AASB 119 Employee benefits expected to be settled (as opposed to due to be settled under 

current standard) within 12 months after the end of the reporting period are short-term 

benefits, and therefore not discounted when calculating  the leave liabilities.  Annual leave 

not expected to be used within 12 months of end of reporting period will in future be 

discounted when calculating leave liability.  This standard has no impact as there are no 

annual leave provision amounts that are non-current.  Kasbah will apply this from 1 July 

2013. 
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2. REVENUE 

  
Consolidated 

  
2012 2011 

  $ $ 

    

Interest revenue  878,386 875,437 

    

Other Revenue    

Proceeds from Toyota Tsusho  2,500,000 - 

Sale of drilling consumables  191,710 - 

Other revenue  17,165 165,173 

  2,708,875 165,173 

3. EXPENSES 

Loss before income tax includes the following 
items:    

 

 

Rental expenses relating to operating leases  112,012 80,178 

Superannuation expense  149,233 98,808 

 

Depreciation and amortisation    

 Plant and equipment  278,300 176,370 

 Amortisation - Software  39,209 7,331 

  317,509 183,701 

    

Impairment of other assets     

 Value Added Tax Receivable  2,133,035 57,338 

 Exploration and evaluation expenditure *   - 1,140,460 

  2,133,035 1,197,798 

* Refer to note 10 for details of Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure impairment 
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4. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

 Consolidated 

 2012 2011 

 $ $ 

a) Income tax expense (benefit) 

 Current tax (191,106) - 

 Deferred tax - - 

 (191,106) - 

   

b) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facia tax payable:  

   

Profit /(Loss)  before income tax expense  (13,759,186) (11,335,286) 

Tax at the tax rate 30% (2011: 30%)  (4,127,756) (3,400,586) 

Tax effect of amounts not deductible (taxable) in 
calculating taxable income  115,317 76,899 

R&D tax offset payment  (191,106) - 

Deferred tax assets not brought to account on tax 
losses and temporary difference  4,012,439 3,323,687 

  (191,106) - 

c) Deferred Tax Assets 

Temporary differences  98,064 78,975 

Tax losses - Revenue  11,635,817 7,529,849 

  11,733,881 7,608,824 

d) Offset against Deferred Tax    

Liabilities recognised  (59,970) (104,540) 

Offset by Deferred Assets not brought to account  11,673,911 7,504,284 

    

e) Deferred Tax Liabilities    

Temporary differences  (59,970) (104,540) 

Offset by Deferred Assets not recognised  59,970 104,540 

  - - 

Tax Losses 

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised have not been disclosed as 

the future recovery of those losses is subject to the Company satisfying the requirements imposed by 

the regulatory taxation authorities. The benefits of deferred tax assets not brought to account will 

only be brought to account if: 

Á future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit 

to be realised; 

Á the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and 

Á no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Company in realising the benefit. 
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5. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Audit Services     

Auditors of the Company ς BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd  52,218 38,500 

Remuneration of other auditor for subsidiaries  18,089 27,903 

Total remuneration for Audit services  70,307 66,403 

Amounts received, or due and receivable, for taxation 
and other services by:   

Affiliated companies  to BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd  24,316 101,095 

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
 

Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

    

Cash at bank and in hand  4,546,766 2,977,343 

Short-term deposits at call  14,094,882 18,873,508 

  18,614,648 21,850,851 

    

a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year   

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement 
of cash flows as follows: 

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

    

Balances as above  18,641,648 21,850,851 

Bank overdrafts  - - 

Balances per statement of cash flows 18,641,678 21,850,851 

Risk Exposure 

¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇǎΩ ŜȄǇƻǎure to interest rate risk is disclosed in note 22.  The maximum exposure to credit 

risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of cash and cash 

equivalents mentioned above. 
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7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Current     

Trade and other receivables  1,414,424 624,411 

Income tax receivable  191,106 - 

Prepayments  149,887 72,927 

VAT receivable  2,275,650 287,738 

Impairment of VAT  (2,275,650) (287,738) 

  1,755,417 697,338 

As at 30 June 2012 the trade debtors of the Group were $44,778 (2011: Nil). No trade and other 

receivables balances were past their due date at 30 June 2012 (2011: Nil) and hence no impairment 

has been recognised. Refer Note 22 for the Group ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ credit risk policy.  The carrying amount of 

trade and other receivables approximates fair value and no allowance has been made for non-

recovery. 

Impaired VAT Receivable 

As at 30 June 2012 the Group had VAT receivable in Morocco of $2,275,650 (2011: $287,738). The 

VAT is recoverable against generation of revenue in a twelve month rolling period for which the 

Group would be required to remit VAT.  The Company has determined that at this stage of 

exploration it is not probable that it would generate sufficient revenue in the next twelve months to 

recoup the VAT and as such the whole of the VAT receivable has been treated as impaired. 

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Opening balance VAT receivable  287,738 230,400 

VAT receivable for year  1,987,912 57,338 

Closing balance of VAT receivable  2,275,650 287,738 

    

Opening balance impairment of VAT  (287,738) (230,400) 

Impairment recognised for the year  (1,987,912) (57,338) 

Total provision for impairment of VAT  (2,275,650) (287,738) 

 



Notes to The Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

 
KASBAH RESOURCES LIMITED 2012 ANNUAL REPORT  55 | P ag e  

8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Current    

Tamlalt permits held for sale  1 1 

  1 1 

During the 2011 financial year ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƳŀŘŜ ǘƘŜ ŘŜŎƛǎƛƻƴ ǘƻ ŦƻŎǳǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ŎƘƳƳŀŎƘ tin 

project.  Capitalised exploration and evaluation costs associated with the Tamlalt gold project was 

impaired (see note 10 for further details).  Subsequently the Company decided to divest the Tamlalt 

exploration permits.  As it is highly probable the asset will be realised through a sale rather than 

continuing use, the asset was reclassified as a non-current asset held for sale. 

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

    

Plant and equipment ς at cost   1,300,615 938,006 

Less: Accumulated depreciation   (536,203) (313,289) 

Total plant and equipment at net book value 764,412 624,717 

    

Motor vehicles ς at cost   192,043 207,372 

Less: Accumulated depreciation   (32,944) (76,466) 

Total motor vehicles at net book value  159,099 130,906 

    

Computer software ς at cost   190,798 133,590 

Less: Accumulated amortisation   (107,415) (68,206) 

Total computer software at net book value  83,383 65,384 

    

Total Property Plant and Equipment  1,006,894 821,007 
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Reconciliations  

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out 

below: 

 
 

Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Plant and Equipment 

Carrying amount at beginning of year   624,717 322,525 

Additions   436,172 463,635 

Disposals  - (7,352) 

Movement due to foreign exchange  (52,086) (7,325) 

Depreciation  (244,391) (146,766) 

Carrying amount at end of year    764,412 624,717 

    

Motor Vehicles     

Carrying amount at beginning of year   130,906 51,373 

Additions   95,285 109,137 

Disposals  (21,893) - 

Movement due to foreign exchange  (11,289) (2,404) 

Depreciation  (33,910) (27,200) 

Carrying amount at end of year    159,099 130,906 

 

Computer Software     

Carrying amount at beginning of year   65,384 - 

Additions   57,208 75,115 

Disposals  - - 

Movement due to foreign exchange  - - 

Amortisation  (39,209) (9,731) 

Carrying amount at end of year    83,383 65,384 
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10. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 

 
Consolidated 

 2012 2011 

 $ $ 

   

Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in:   

Exploration and/or evaluation phase     

Balance at beginning of year   - 1,140,461 

Acquisition of exploration property (a) 3,802,176  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure written- off (b) - (1,140,460) 

Capitalised borrowing costs  254,736 - 

Movement due to foreign exchange  (1) - 

Reclassification as an asset held for sale  - (1) 

Total exploration and evaluation expenditure 4,056,911 - 

 

a) In August 2011 the Company announced that it had received approval from the Moroccan 

Ministry for Energy, Mines, Water and Environment for the transfer of 100% of the Achmmach 

¢ƛƴ tǊƻƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ YŀǎōŀƘΩǎ ǿƘƻƭƭȅ ƻǿƴŜŘ aƻǊƻŎŎŀƴ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅΦ  The total consideration for the 

transfer of two mining permits was US$5,000,000 (exclusive of taxes).  The total consideration 

is to be paid in five equal annual instalments with title to the permits transferring after the first 

payment, which was made in October 2011.  The transfer was completed on 9 May 2012.  The 

acquisition cost of the Achmmach permits and corresponding liability have been discounted to 

fair value at the reporting date in accordance with accounting standards. 

b) The comparative period for the year ended 30 June 2011 reflects the writing down of the 

Tamlalt Gold project. 
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11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Current    

Trade payables   736,012 636,693 

Other payables and accruals (a)  5,307,370 433,975 

  6,043,382 1,070,668 

    

Non-Current    

Other payables (b)  3,061,158 - 

  3,061,158 - 

    

    

 

a)  The other payables and accruals balance has increased significantly during the year as a result 

of: 

i) the acquisition of the Achmmach Tin Project (refer note 10) and recognition of the 

liability associated with the outstanding purchase consideration. The remaining 4 annual 

instalments of US$1,000,000 each have been discounted to fair value as at 30 June 2012.  

The next instalment is due in May 2013 and has been included as a current liability; and 

ii) the possible payment to Toyota Tsusho Corporation of $2,500,000 should they elect not 

to make further payments and acquire their full 20% interest in the Achmmach project.  

Payment of the $2,500,000 can be satisfied by the Company at its election through 

either cash or shares in the Company. 

b)  The other payables balance includes the remaining payments owing in relation to the 

acquisition of the Achmmach Tin Project (refer a)i above) 

Risk exposure 

Information about the GroupΩs exposure to foreign exchange risk is provided in note 22. 

12. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ς PROVISIONS 

  Consolidated 

  2012 2011 
  $ $ 

   
Employee benefits ς long service leave 42,933 20,651 

 42,933 20,651 
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13. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

Terms and Conditions 

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 

ŜƴǘƛǘƭŜŘ ǘƻ ƻƴŜ ǾƻǘŜ ǇŜǊ ǎƘŀǊŜ ŀǘ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎǎΦ  hƴ ŀ ǎƘƻǿ ƻŦ ƘŀƴŘǎ ŜǾŜǊȅ ƘƻƭŘŜǊ ƻŦ 

ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll 

each share is entitled to one vote. In the event of winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders 

rank after creditors and are entitled to any proceeds of liquidation. 

Ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not therefore have a limit to the amount of 

its authorised capital. 

Options have no voting rights and upon exercise each option is converted to an ordinary share.  The 

Company has no authorised capital nor any par value shares. 

Capital Management 

¢ƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘΩǎ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ƛǎ ǘƻ Ƴŀƛƴǘŀƛƴ ŀ ǎǘǊƻƴƎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ōŀǎŜ ǎƻ ŀǎ ǘƻ Ƴŀƛƴǘŀin investor, creditor and market 

confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  As a junior explorer the Board does 

not establish a target return on capital.  Capital management requires the maintenance of strong 

cash balances to support ongoing exploration expenditure.  

There were no changes in the GroupΩǎ ŀǇǇǊƻŀŎƘ ǘƻ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊΦ  Neither the 

Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
Consolidated Consolidated 

 2012 2011 2012 2011 

 
Number of 

Shares 
Number of 

Shares $ $ 

Issued and Paid-up Capital      

Ordinary shares, fully paid 395,412,596 364,262,596 56,746,222 48,838,722 

 

Movements in ordinary share capital      

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 364,262,596 237,315,006 48,838,722 19,998,350 

Share placement at 24 cents (Oct 2010) -Tranche 1 - 35,000,000 - 8,400,000 

Share placement at 24 cents (Dec  2010) -Tranche 2 - 52,500,000 - 12,600,000 

Share issues pursuant to Share Purchase 
Plan  - 37,497,590 - 8,999,422 

Less Capital Raising Costs  - - - (1,499,050) 

Exercise of options at 20c (Feb 2011)  - 800,000 - 160,000 

Exercise of options at 10c (Mar 2011)  - 500,000 - 50,000 

Exercise of options at 20c (Mar 2011)  - 650,000 - 130,000 

Exercise of options at 10c (Mar 2012)  500,000 - 50,000 - 

Exercise of options at 10c (Apr 2012)  500,000 - 50,000 - 

Exercise of options at 25c (May 2012)  22,900,000 - 5,725,000 - 

Exercise of options at 25c (Jun 2012)  7,250,000 - 1,812,500 - 

Issued capital at end of period   395,412,596 364,292,596 56,476,222 48,838,722 
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14. RESERVES 

Nature and purpose of reserves 

i) Share based payment reserve 

The share based payment reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued but not 

exercised.  

ii) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve  

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entities are taken to the 

foreign currency translation reserve, as described in note 1(i).  

15. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

a) Transactions with Directors' related entities 

Transactions between parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions unless otherwise 

stated.  

A Director, Mr Wayne Bramwell, is a Director and shareholder of Sabre Ventures Pty Ltd (Sabre). 

Sabre was paid $23,200 (2011: $52,690) during the year for secretarial and support services to 

Kasbah pertaining to the Moroccan entity.  At 30 June 2012 $0 was payable to Sabre Ventures 

Pty Ltd (2011: $1,430). 

A Director, Mr Gary Davison, is a Director and shareholder of Mining One Pty Ltd (Mining One).  

Mining One was paid $454,826 (2011: $0) during the year for consultancy and engineering 

design services provided to Kasbah.  At 30 June 2012 $175,048 was payable to Mining One Pty 

Ltd (2011: $0). 

b) Balances With Controlled Entities  

During the year ended 30 June 2012 the parent entity advanced loans to its subsidiaries of 

$9,713,720 (2011: $2,453,051). 
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16. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

a) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 

Remuneration of Directors and other Key Management Personnel: 

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 1,076,345 974,038 

Post employment benefits 119,204 106,959 

Long term employment benefits  12,465 5,400 

Share based payments  268,557 221,861 

  1,476,571 1,308,258 
 

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on page 24. 

b) Equity Instruments Disclosures Relating to Key Management Personnel 

Options and Rights Holdings: 

The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by 

each director of Kasbah Resources Limited and other key management personnel of the group, 

including their personally related parties, are set out below: 

2012 

Directors 

Held at 

1 July 2011 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Exercised Other 
Changes * 

Held at 

30 June 
2012 

Vested and 

exercisable 

Unvested 

Wayne 
Bramwell 

4,000,000 4,000,000 - (4,000,000) 4,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 

Rodney 
Marston 

1,875,000 - - (1,875,000) - - - 

Robert 
Weinberg 

1,875,000 - - (1,875,000) - - - 

 

KMP 

       

Mike Kitney - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 

Chris Bolger  1,000,000 - (500,000) (500,000) - - - 

Trevor 
hΩ/ƻƴƴƻǊ 

- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 

Total 8,750,000 6,000,000 (500,000) (8,250,000) 6,000,000 2,000,000 4,000,000 

 

All vested options are exercisable at the end of the year. 

*  The amount shown under Other Changes includes an amount to reduce the holding to zero 

upon the expiration of options.  

Chris Bolger no longer meets the definition for disclosure as a key management person. 
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2011 

Directors 

Held at 

1 July 2010 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Exercised Other 
Changes * 

Held at 

30 June 2011 

Balance 
Vested 

Balance 
Unvested 

Wayne 
Bramwell 

4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 

Rodney 
Marston 

1,875,000 - - - 1,875,000 1,875,000 - 

Robert 
Weinberg 

1,875,000 - - - 1,875,000 1,875,000 - 

Graeme 
Walker 

3,325,000 - - (3,325,000) - - - 

 

KMP 

       

Mike Kitney - - - - - - - 

Chris Bolger 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 

Trevor 
hΩ/ƻƴƴƻǊ 

- - - - - - - 

Jeffrey 
Lindhorst  

1,500,000 - - (1,500,000) - - - 

Trevor Hart 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - - - 

Total 14,575,000 - 1,950,000 (5,825,000) 8,750,000 5,750,000 3,000,000 

 

*  The amount shown under Other Changes includes an amount to reduce the holding to zero 

upon resignation of the person during the year.  

Jeffrey Lindhorst no longer meets the definition for disclosure as a key management person. 
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c) Shareholdings: 

The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of 

Kasbah Resources Limited and other key management personnel of the group, including their 

personally related parties, are set out below.  There were no shares granted during the 

reporting period as compensation. 

2012 

Directors 

Held at 

1 July 2011 

Received during 
the year on the 

exercise of options 

Other changes 
during the 

year 

Held at 

30 June 2012 

 

Michael Spratt 648,412 - - 648,412 

Wayne Bramwell 9,857,412 - - 9,857,412 

Rodney Marston 1,479,244 - - 1,479,244 

Robert Weinberg 475,912 - - 475,912 

Ian McCubbing 200,000 - - 200,000 

 

KMP 

    

Mike Kitney 224,004 - 97,200 321,204 

Chris Bolger* 41,666 - (41,666) - 

¢ǊŜǾƻǊ hΩ/ƻƴƴƻǊ - - - - 

Total 12,926,650 - 55,534 12,982,184 

 

*  Chris Bolger no longer meets the definition for disclosure as a key management person. 

 

2011 

Directors 

Held at 

1 July 2010 

Received during 
the year on the 

exercise of options 

Net Change 

Other 

Held at 

30 June 2011 

Michael Spratt - - 648,412 648,412 

Wayne Bramwell 9,833,472 - 23,940 9,857,412 

Rodney Marston 1,480,000 - (756) 1,479,244 

Robert Weinberg 440,000 - 35,912 475,912 

Ian McCubbing - - 200,000 200,000 

Graeme Walker *  400,000 - (400,000) - 

 

KMP 

    

Mike Kitney - - 224,004 224,004 

Chris Bolger - - 41,666 41,666 

TrevoǊ hΩ/ƻƴƴƻǊ - - - - 

Jeffrey Lindhorst* - - - - 

Trevor Hart *  515,000 - (515,000) - 

Total 12,668,472 - 258,178 12,926,650 

 

*  DǊŀŜƳŜ ²ŀƭƪŜǊΩǎ ōŀƭŀƴŎŜ ǊŜŘǳŎŜŘ ǘƻ ȊŜǊƻ ǳǇƻƴ ǊŜǎƛƎƴŀǘƛƻƴ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊΦ 

Jeffrey Lindhorst no longer meets the definition for disclosure as a key management person. 

¢ǊŜǾƻǊ IŀǊǘΩǎ ōŀƭŀƴŎŜ ǊŜŘǳŎŜŘ ǘƻ ȊŜǊƻ ǳǇƻƴ ǊŜǎƛƎƴŀǘƛƻƴ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊΦ 
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d) Loans 

There were no loans to key management personnel at the year end. 

e) Other Transactions with key management personnel 

Refer to Note 15 for details of other transactions with key management personnel. 

Refer to Note 17 for the share based payments to key management personnel. 

17. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

The Company granted 6,500,000 new options to employees during the financial year (2011: nil).  

¦ƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ LƴŎŜƴǘƛǾŜ hǇǘƛƻƴ {ŎƘŜƳŜ ŀƭƭ ƻǇǘƛƻƴǎ ƛǎǎǳŜŘ Ŏŀƴ ōŜ ŜȄŜǊŎƛǎŜŘ ǘƻ ŀŎǉǳƛǊŜ ƻƴŜ 
ordinary share.  The exercise price of the options is determined by the Directors.  Share options are 
granted at the discretion of the Board. 

All unvested employee options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or upon termination of the 
ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜΩǎ ŜƳǇƭƻȅƳŜƴǘΦ  

There are no voting rights attached to the options.  

Details of options as at the beginning and end of the reporting periods and movements during the 
year are set out below. 

Ref Expiry date Exercise 

price 

Number of 
options at 

beginning of 

Options 
granted 

Options 
cancelled 

Options 
exercised 

Number of options on 
issue at end of year 

   year    Vested Unvested 

 (a) 1 Jul 2011  $0.25 749,250 - (749,250) - - - 

 (b) 15 Nov 2011 $0.25 5,625,000 - (5,625,000) - - - 

 (c) 15 Nov 2011 $0.25 4,000,000 - (4,000,000) - - - 

 (d) 1 May 2013 $0.35 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 - 

 (e) 11 Jul 2013 $0.25 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 - 

 (f) 5 Jan 2015 $0.10 500,000 - - (500,000) - - 

 (g) 5 Oct 2015 $0.10 1,500,000 - - (500,000) 250,000 750,000 

 (h) 26 Aug 2014 $0.25 - 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 

 (i) 24 Nov 2014 $0.25 - 4,000,000 - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 

   14,374,250 6,500,000 (10,374,250) (1,000,000) 4,250,000 5,250,000 

The following share-based payment arrangements existed during the financial year: 

(a) 1,125,000 options were issued in 2008 to a Director with an exercise price of 25 cents and 

expiry date of 1 July 2011. The options were exercisable on the following basis;  

Á 1/3 of the options were exercisable on issue;  

Á 1/3 of the options were exercisable from the first anniversary of the issue date; and 

Á 1/3 of the options were exercisable from the second anniversary of the issue date.  

During the year all remaining 749,250 options were cancelled due to failure to meet vesting 

conditions. 
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(b) 5,625,000 options were issued in 2006 to the Directors with an exercise price of 25 cents and 

expiry date of 15 November 2011.  The options are exercisable on the following basis;  

Á 20% of the options were exercisable on issue; and  

Á 20% of the options were exercisable from the first anniversary and each subsequent 

anniversary ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘƳŜƴǘ.  

During the year all of these options were cancelled after they were unexercised at their expiry 

date. 

(c) 9,000,000 options were issued in 2006 to the executive Directors and the Chief Financial 

Officer with an exercise price of 25 cents and an expiry date of 15 November 2011.  

The first tranche of 4,500,000 options had the following vesting conditions: 

Á 12 months service to the Company from the date of issue of the options; and 

Á the Kasbah share price trading at no less than 37.5 cents for five consecutive trading days. 

The second tranche of 4,500,000 options had the following vesting conditions: 

Á 24 months service to the Company from the date of issue of the options; and 

Á the Kasbah share price trading at no less than 50 cents for five consecutive trading days. 

During the year all remaining 4,000,000 options were cancelled after they were unexercised at 
their expiry date. 

(d) 1,000,000 options were issued in 2008 to an employee with an exercise price of 35 cents and 

an expiry date of 1 May 2013.  The options are exercisable on the following basis:  

Á 50% of the options were exercisable from the date of issue of the options; and  

Á 50% of the options were exercisable from 31 December 2008. 

(e) 1,000,000 options were issued to an employee during 2008 with an exercise price of 25 cents 

and an expiry date of 11 July 2013.  The options are exercisable on the following basis: 

Á 50% of the options were exercisable from the first anniversary of the issue date; and  

Á 50% of the options were exercisable from the second anniversary of the issue date. 

(f) 1,500,000 options were issued in 2010 to employees of the Company with an exercise price of 

10 cents and an expiry date of 5 October 2015.  The options are exercisable on the following 

basis: 

Á 50% were exercisable from the first anniversary of issue date; and  

Á 50% are exercisable from the second anniversary of issue date. 

During the year the remaining 500,000 options were exercised. 

(g) 1,500,000 options were issued in 2010 to employees of the Company with an exercise price of 

10 cents and an expiry date of 20 April 2015.  The options are exercisable on the following 

basis: 

Á 50% are exercisable from the first anniversary of the issue date; and  

Á 50% are exercisable from the second anniversary of the issue date.  

During the year 500,000 options were exercised. 
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(h) 2,500,000 options were issued in 2011 to employees of the Company with an exercise price of 

25 cents and an expiry date of 26 August 2014.  The options are exercisable on the following 

basis: 

Á 50% were exercisable from the first anniversary of issue date; and  

Á 50% are exercisable from the second anniversary of issue date. 

(i) 4,000,000 options were issued in 2011 to the Managing Director of the Company with an 

exercise price of 25 cents and an expiry date of 24 November 2014.  The options are 

exercisable on the following basis: 

Á 50% are exercisable from the issue date  

Á 50% are exercisable from the first anniversary of issue date. 

Using a Black-Scholes option valuation methodology, the fair values of the options issued in 2012 

(2011: nil) were calculated. The following assumptions were used: 

Input Value Value 

Grant date 24 November 2011 26 August 2011 

Share price $0.165 $0.170 

Exercise price $0.250 $0.250 

Expected volatility 73.33% 58.11% 

Expiry date 24 November 2014 26 August 2014 

Expected dividend Nil Nil 

Risk free interest rate 3.07% 3.81% 

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of options exercised during the year ended 

30 June 2012 was $0.30 (2011: $0.32). 

The options outstanding at 30 June 2012 had a weighted average exercise price of $0.245 (2011: 

$0.236) and a weighted average remaining life of 2.12 years (2011: 1.09 years). 

The annualised historical volatility of share prices is calculated as the standard deviation of the log of 

the differences between share prices multiplied by an annualisation factor. 

 2012 
Number of 

Options 
 

2012 
Weighted 
Average 

Price 
$ 

2011 
Number of 

Options 
 

2011 
Weighted 
Average 

Price 
$ 

Outstanding at the beginning of 
the year 14,374,250 0.227 10,624,250 0.227 

Granted 6,500,000 0.25 - - 

Forfeited - - - - 

Exercised (1,000,000) 0.303 (1,950,000) 0.174 

Expired (10,374,250) 0.25 (5,875,750) 0.237 

Outstanding at year end 9,500,000 0.245 14,374,250 0.240 

Exercisable at year end 4,250,000 0.265 10,624,250 0.256 
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18. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Board has determined that the Company has one reportable segment, being mineral exploration 

in Morocco.  As the Company is focused on mineral exploration, the Board monitors the Company 

based on actual versus budgeted exploration expenditure incurred by area of interest. 

This internal reporting framework is the most relevant to assist the Board with making decisions 

regarding the Group and its ongoing exploration activities. 

Segment information provided to the Board: 
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Revenue from external customers  - - 

Reportable segment loss  (14,103,255) (9,540,912) 

Reportable segment assets  6,386,565 1,248,600 

Reportable segment liabilities  (6,104,926) (748,458) 

 

Reconciliation of revenue from external customers to total revenue is as follows: 

Segment Revenue  - - 

Unallocated    

 Interest  878,386 875,437 

Total revenue as per continuing operations 878,386 875,437 

   

Reconciliation of reportable segment loss to operating loss before income tax is as follows: 

Total loss for reportable segment  (14,103,255) (9,540,912) 

Unallocated    

 Corporate expenses  (3,036,293) (2,669,902) 

 Interest revenue  878,386 875,437 

 Other  2,693,082 91 

Loss before income tax from continuing operations (13,568,080) (11,335,286) 

 

Reconciliation of reportable segment assets to total assets is as follows: 

Segment Assets  6,386,565 1,248,600 

Unallocated    

 Cash  18,535,218 21,629,548 

 Other  539,088 491,049 

Total assets as per statement of financial position 25,460,871 23,369,197 

 

Reconciliation of reportable segment liabilities to total liabilities is as follows: 

Segment Liabilities  (6,104,926) (748,458) 

Unallocated    

 Payables  (2,999,614) (329,684) 

 Provisions  (42,933) (13,178) 

Total liabilities as per statement of financial position (9,147,473) (1,091,319) 
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19. NOTES TO STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

a) Reconciliation of Cash  

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

    

Cash assets  18,641,648 21,850,851 

    

b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax to net  

cash provided by operating activities 

Profit/(Loss) after income tax   (13,568,080) (11,335,286) 

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing 
activities   

Depreciation  317,509 183,701 

Option base payment expense  312,329 255,166 

Revenue from Toyota Tsusho  (2,500,000) - 

Gain / (Loss) on sale of non-current assets 2,794 - 

Impairment of expenses  - 1,172,947 

    

Net cash utilised in operating activities 
before change in assets and liabilities  (15,435,448) (9,723,472) 

    
(Increase)/Decrease in Assets    

Receivables   (33,874) (702,454) 

    
Increase/(Decrease) in Liabilities    

Payables   2,101,511 369,963 

    

Net Exchange Differences  54,377 (38,819) 

    

Net cash utilised in operating activities  (13,313,434) (10,094,782) 
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20. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION  

The following information relates to the parent entity, Kasbah Resources Limited, at 30 June 2012.  

The information presented has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in 

Note 1. 

  
Parent  

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

    

Current assets  19,196,676 23,002,765 

Non-current assets  302,559 193,589 

Total assets  19,499,235 23,196,354 

    

Current liabilities  1,268,436 869,440 

Non-current liabilities  5,042,933 20,651 

Total liabilities  6,311,369 890,091 

    

Contributed equity  56,476,222 48,838,722 

Accumulated losses  (46,359,704) (29,291,479) 

Option reserve  3,071,349 2,759,020 

Total equity  13,187,867 22,306,263 

    

Loss for the year  (17,068,225) (12,263,834) 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year (17,068,225) (12,263,934) 

The parent entity has not entered into any guarantees with its subsidiaries.  

There are no contingent liabilities of the parent entity. 

Details of the contractual commitments of the Parent are those as contained in Note 24 which are 

the same as the contractual commitments for the Group. 

21. (LOSS) PER SHARE 

  2012 2011 

  Cents Cents 

Basic earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share)  (3.68) (3.61) 

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share)  (3.68) (3.61) 

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
calculation of basic and diluted loss per share 368,323,829 313,793,097 

    

Net (loss) attributed to EPS  (13,568,080) (11,335,286) 
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22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

Financial Risk Management 

Overview 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments: 

Á credit risk 

Á liquidity risk 

Á market risk 

This note presents information about the GroupΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ŜŀŎƘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀōƻǾŜ ǊƛǎƪǎΣ ǘƘŜƛǊ 

objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk 

management framework.  Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the 

operations of the Group through regular reviews of the risks. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘ Ŧŀƛƭǎ ǘƻ ƳŜŜǘ ƛǘǎ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǳŀƭ ƻōƭƛƎŀǘƛƻƴǎΣ ŀƴŘ ŀǊƛǎŜǎ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭƭȅ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇǎΩ ǎǳǊǇƭǳǎ 

cash investments. 

In Australia funds are deposited with financial institutions which have AA credit ratings and in 

Morocco with financial institutions which have A+ credit ratings.  Sufficient funds to cover only one 

ǉǳŀǊǘŜǊΩǎ ŦǳƴŘƛƴƎ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀǊŜ ƳŀƛƴǘŀƛƴŜŘ ƛƴ aƻǊƻŎŎƻΦ 

Other receivables 

The Group operates in the mining exploration sector, has only minor trade receivables who are also 

major suppliers of services to the Group and therefore is not exposed to credit risk in relation to 

trade receivables. 

Exposure to Credit Risk  

¢ƘŜ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩs financial assets represents the maximum credit exposures, with 

none of the receivables being past due or impaired.  ¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƳŀȄƛƳǳƳ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ Ǌƛǎƪ ŀǘ 

the reporting date was: 

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

Trade and other receivables  495,743 552,373 

Cash and cash equivalents  18,641,648 21,850,851 
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Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 

ŘǳŜΦ ¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŀǇǇǊƻŀŎƘ ǘƻ ƳŀƴŀƎƛƴƎ ƭƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ ƛǎ ǘƻ ŜƴǎǳǊŜ ǘƘŀǘ ƛt will always have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

ƛƴŎǳǊǊƛƴƎ ǳƴŀŎŎŜǇǘŀōƭŜ ƭƻǎǎŜǎ ƻǊ ǊƛǎƪƛƴƎ ŘŀƳŀƎŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǊŜǇǳǘŀǘƛƻƴΦ 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring 

forecast and actual cash flows. 

The decision on how the Company will raise future capital will depend on market conditions existing 

at that time. 

Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational 

expenses for a period of 60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations, this excludes the 

potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural 

disasters.  

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest 

payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements: 

Consolidated 

30 June 2012 

Carrying 
Amount 

$ 

6 Mths 

or less 

$ 

6-12 

Mths 

$ 

1-2 

Years 

$ 

2-5 

Years 

$ 

More than 

5 Years 

$ 

       

Trade and other payables 6,200,028 2,154,770 1,159,269 1,159,269 2,493,707 - 

 6,200,028 2,154,770 1,159,269 1,159,269 2,493,707 - 

       

Consolidated 30 June 2011       

       

Trade and other payables 812,586 812,586 - - - - 

 812,586 812,586 - - - - 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates 

ǿƛƭƭ ŀŦŦŜŎǘ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƛƴŎƻƳŜ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ ƘƻƭŘƛƴƎǎ ƻŦ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎΦ  The objective of 

market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters, while optimising the return. 

Currency risk 

The Group is exposed to currency risk on investments, purchases and borrowings that are 

denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities.  The 

currencies in which these transactions primarily are denominated are USDΣ 9¦whΩǎ ŀƴŘ D.t. 
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Exposure to currency risk 

¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ Ǌƛǎƪ ŀǘ reporting date was as follows, based on notional 

amounts: 

Consolidated 30 June 2012 30 June 2011 

 USD EUR GBP USD EUR GBP 

Cash and Cash equivalents 2,201,530 - - - - - 

Trade and other receivables 115,790 - - 115,790 - - 

Trade and other payables (219,334) (12,783) (21,603) (219,334) (37,768) (54,934) 

Gross statement of 
financial position exposure 

(2,097,986) (12,783) (21,603) (103,544) (37,768) (54,934) 

Sensitivity analysis 

A 10% strengthening or weakening of the Australian dollar against the following currencies at 30 June 

would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  This 

analysis based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be 

reasonable at the end of the reporting period.  The analysis assumes that all other variables, in 

particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2011. 

 Equity Profit or loss 

30 June 2012   

USD - 209,799 

EUR - 1,278 

GBP 

 

- 

 

2,160 

 

30 June 2011   

USD - 10,354 

EUR - 3,777 

GBP - 5,493 
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Interest rate risk 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk.  ¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜǎ ǊŜƭŀǘŜ 

primarily to cash and cash equivalents held in Australian financial institutions.  At 30 June 2012 all 

cash and cash equivalents in Australia were held with two financial institutions. 

At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points (0.5%) higher or lower and all other 

variables were held constant, the DǊƻǳǇΩǎ net profit would increase by $93,208 or decrease by 

$93,208 (2011: $109,254ύΦ ¢Ƙƛǎ ƛǎ Ƴŀƛƴƭȅ ŀǘǘǊƛōǳǘŀōƭŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜǎ ƻƴ ƛǘǎ 

deposits. 

  
Consolidated 

  

2012 

$ 

2011 

$ 

    

Cash and cash equivalents  4,546,766 2,977,343 

Short term cash  deposits  14,094,882 18,873,508 

  18,641,648 21,850,851 

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk in relation to its liability to ONHYM for the acquisition 
of the Achmmach permits held at amortised cost.  The calculation uses an effective interest rate of 
10%. 

Net Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The fair value of all financial assets and financial liabilities which are current, approximates their 

carrying values because of the short term nature of these items.  The Group does not carry any 

financial instruments at fair value therefore their disclosures are not presented.  

23. CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 
 

Interest Held Interest Held 

  2012 2011 

  % % 

a) Particulars in relation to controlled entities 

Parent entity    

Kasbah Resources Limited     

Controlled entities    

Kasbah Gold SARLAU  100 100 

Hamada Minerals SARLAU  100 100 

Sahara Exploration SARLAU  100 - 

 

The above controlled entities are incorporated in the Kingdom of Morocco. The shares are fully paid 
ordinary shares 

 



Notes to The Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

 
KASBAH RESOURCES LIMITED 2012 ANNUAL REPORT  74 | P ag e  

24. COMMITMENTS 

  
Consolidated 

  2012 2011 

Lease/Hire Purchase Commitments    

Operating lease repayments are payable as follows:   

not later than one year  129,015 107,928 

later than one year but not later than 
five years  121,508 272,806 

  250,523 380,734 

Remuneration Commitments   

Commitments for the payment of salaries 
and other remuneration under long-term 
employment contracts in existence at the 
reporting date but not recognised as 
liabilities, payable not later than one year 

   

 294,910 268,120 

Later than one year but not later than five 
years  - - 

  294,910 268,120 

Amounts disclosed as remuneration commitments include commitments arising from the services 

contracts of key management personnel referred to in the remuneration report on page 26 which are 

not recognised as liabilities and are not included in the key management personnel compensation. 

25. CONTINGENCIES 

Under the terms of the agreement with ONHYM for the transfer of the Achmmach permits to Kasbah 

Gold SARLAU, ONHYM is entitled to a 3% Net Smelter Return (άNSRέ) once production commences.  

The royalty is due for payment before the end of the second quarter following the year that the 

production relates to. 

Under the terms of the agreement to purchase the BLJ tenements in Hamada Minerals SARLAU, a 

one off payment of 2,000,000 Moroccan Dirhams (A$222,780 as at 30 June 2012) is payable to the 

previous holders of the tenements (1,000,000 Moroccan Dirhams each).  The payment is contingent 

upon mining commencing from these permits and is payable on the commencement of mining. 

26. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 

On 30 July 2012, $11,000,000 was received from Toyota Tsusho under the terms of the MOU signed 

in March 2012.   



5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ 5ŜŎƭŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ 
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¢ƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ƻŦ YŀǎōŀƘ wŜǎƻǳǊŎŜǎ [ƛƳƛǘŜŘ όά¢ƘŜ Companyέύ ŘŜŎƭŀǊŜ ǘƘŀǘΥ 

1. The consolidated financial statements, comprising the statement of financial position, statement of 

comprehensive income, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity, accompanying 

notes, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:  

a. comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and  

b. give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date.  

2. Lƴ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴ ǘƘŜǊŜ ŀǊŜ ǊŜŀǎƻƴŀōƭŜ ƎǊƻǳƴŘǎ ǘƻ ōŜƭƛŜǾŜ ǘƘŜ Company will be able to pay its 

debts as and when they become due and payable.  

3. The remuneration disclosures included in pages 20 to 28 ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ όŀǎ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

audited Remuneration Report); for the year ended 30 June 2012, comply with section 300A of the 

Corporations Act 2001.  

4. The Directors have been given the declarations by the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer 

in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 

2012.  

5. Note 1 confirms that the financial statements comply with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (άIFRSέ) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (άIASBέ). 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on 

behalf of the Directors by: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wayne Bramwell 

Managing Director 

 

Dated: this day 25 of September 2012 



LƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ !ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘ 
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